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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EFREHEREEENWED N

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
I am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
nonwoven fabric products used in automotive interior decoration
parts and other parts, and the trading of rubber. The Group also
deploys financial resource to securities investment to achieve
earnings in the form of capital appreciation and income from
dividends. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
disposed the business of trading of garment accessories.

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric
products

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric products is the core
business of the Group. The Group manufactures its products with
single layer or multiple layers of nonwoven fabric in accordance
with specific requirements and standards of different customers.
Most of the customers of nonwoven fabric products are primary
manufacturers and suppliers of automotive parts in the PRC. The
majority of the Group's products are further processed by these
customers in order to make different automotive parts such as
floor, head lining, seat cover, parcel tray, trunk, luggage-side trim,
hubcap and car-mat, which are of different characteristics and are
to be applied for different usages in passenger vehicles.

According to the statistics released from China Association of
Automobile Manufacturers (“CAAM"), the production and sales
of passenger vehicles in the PRC were approximately 21,070,000
units and 21,140,000 units respectively for the year ended 31
December 2015, representing an slightly increase of approximately
5.8% and 7.3%. However, as a result of increasing competition
in the automotive industry, there was a decrease trend in profit
margin of certain nonwoven fabric products of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2015.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEREREEEARED N (A

Supply and procurement operation

The Group commenced its business of rubber trading since 2012
and the quoted price of rubber was generally varied according to
the tendency of the commodities markets. To manage the risk,
the Group mainly carried out that business in back-to-back model.
As the significant decrease in price of top commodities, crude
oil, since the second half of 2014, the Group only accepted the
orders with lower default risk and caused a significant decrease in
revenue of trading of rubber.

Disposal of business of trading of garment
accessories

Since the second quarter of 2013, the Group diversified into
the business of trading of garment accessories. The products of
trading of garment accessories are mainly nylon tape, polyester
tape and polyester string.

As a result of the constantly increasing costs of sales and
competition, the business of trading of garment accessories
was not expected to grow at its current rate without further
investments and developments. On 26 May 2015, the Company
disposed the business of trading of garment accessories (the
“Disposal”) at a consideration of HK$51.0 million. The Disposal
was completed on 16 June 2015 and the Company recognized a
gain on disposal in the amount of approximately RMB3.7 million.

Placing of new shares

On 30 June 2015, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent pursuant to which it agreed to procure
independent placees to subscribe for an aggregate of 276,480,000
new shares in the Company (the “Placing”). On 9 July 2015,
the Company entered into a side letter agreement with the
placing agent to revise the placing price to HK$0.345 per placing
share. On 21 July 2015, the Placing was completed where a
total of 276,480,000 new shares were issued. Net proceeds
from the Placing was approximately HK$94.2 million (the “Net
Proceeds”) which was intended to be used i) for the acquisition
and renovation of plants and machineries for its manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric products business, ii) for the financing of
business of trading of rubber and iii) for the potential acquisition
of the business of manufacturing of various types of PBS
polybutylene succinate (“PBS”) and PBS copolymer (the “Possible
Acquisition”). At 31 December 2015, the Net Proceeds were
utilized as to approximately HK$10.1 million for the acquisition
and renovation of plants and machineries for its manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric products business, as to approximately
HK$20 million for financing of business of trading of rubber, as
to approximately HK$20 million for payment of earnest money for
the Possible Acquisition and the remaining approximately HK$44.1
million were placed with banks and securities house and would be
used as intended.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEREREEERED N (A

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014 was illustrated as follows:

Bt % o B8

L'ON
BE-T-AFKR-F-WET-_A=1+—HILHF
B AEBEERARIIIT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—HLEFE

2015 2014
—g-5F  —T-NF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TFT AREFT

Nonwoven fabric for use in automobiles RARAERESn
— Sales of automotive floor carpets — AEMBAEE 96,529 95,223
— Sales of other automotive parts — HEMREREHREE 63,507 74,539
Sales of rubber BBHHEE 22,057 153,535
Sales of garment accessories FRRER R SEE 13,711 33,954
195,804 357,251

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s revenue
decreased to approximately RMB195.8 million, compared to
approximately RMB357.3 million in 2014, representing a decrease
of approximately 45.2%. The decrease in the Group’s revenue was
mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue of sales of rubber
and the disposal of business of trading of garment accessories.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s gross profit
decreased by RMB19.8 million to approximately RMB30.4 million.
The decrease was mainly due to the drop in revenue of the Group.
On the other hand, trading of rubber requires low value-added
services and therefore its gross profit margin is generally lower
than the business of manufacturing. The decrease in revenue in the
business of rubber trading caused an increase in profit margin of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 to approximately
15.5% (2014: 14.0%).

Other income

For the year ended 31 December 2015, The Group’s other income
increased by approximately RMB171.8 million from approximately
RMB11.9 million in 2014 to approximately RMB183.7 million. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in fair value gain on held-
for-trading investments by approximately RMB170.2 million. At 31
December 2015, the held-for-trading investments of approximately
RMB336.3 million mainly comprised of securities from companies
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBIWED N (A

Share of loss of an associate

The Group’s associated company is engaged in the production
and sale of polyester fibers used in automobiles in the PRC. As
a result of general slowdown in growth in the domestic demand
for automobiles in the PRC and intensified price competitions, the
associated company continuously incurred loss during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2015, The Group’s administrative
expenses increased by approximately RMB15.2 million to
approximately RMB33.1 million. The increase was mainly
attributable to the recognition of an impairment loss on goodwill
of business of rubber trading of approximately RMB16.2 million.
The impairment loss arose due to the adverse economic situation,
the management has made certain conservative assumption on
the forecast, including but not limited to decrease in estimated
turnover.

Profit attributable to the owners of the
Company

The profit attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMB132.0 million for the year of 2015 compared
with approximately RMB25.9 million for the corresponding period
of 2014. The increase was mainly due to the increase in fair value
gain on held-for-trading investments.

OUTLOOK

The Board expects that 2016 will be a challenging year for the
business of manufacture and sale of nonwoven products as
the continuously increase in production costs for maintaining
competitiveness and enhancing safety requirements to cope with
the development of the automotive industry. To maintain its
income stream, the Group will still deploy its resources on:

(1) upgrading the production lines in order to improve the
production efficiency;

(2) installing new machineries to suit the customers’ varying
requirements and demands on high-end products;

(3) conducting research and development to keep up with
the latest technological trends in relation to product
specifications; and

(4) strengthening the quality control systems to retain customer
loyalty and reinforce the Group’s reputation in the nonwoven
fabric industry in the PRC.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBIWEAD N (A

As a result of the increasing risk of volatility in rubber price
since the deterioration in price of crude oil, the Group would be
cautious in accepting orders to avoid any downside exposure.
In order to have a better use of the Group’s fund, the Group
increased its financial resource on the business of securities
investment and recorded a gain arising from fair value changes of
held-for-trading investment during the year. The Board will closely
monitor the portfolio of investment to reduce the risks during the
unexpected market fluctuations.

On 24 August 2015, the Group entered into a memorandum
of understanding with an intention to acquire the business of
manufacturing of various types of PBS and PBS copolymer. The
Group would perform due diligence review of the business before
further proceed the Possible Acquisition.

Going forward, with a view to achieving better return and

enhancing the expansion of the Group, the Group will look for
potential investment opportunities to diversify its business scope.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Current assets MBEE
Current liabilities mEaE
Current ratio BN E

The current ratio of the Group at 31 December 2015 was 10.63
times as compared to that of 4.22 times at 31 December 2014.
It was mainly resulted from the net proceeds of placing of new
shares of the Company and increase in fair value gain on held-for-
trading investments during 2015.

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s gearing ratio (represented
by totals of bank borrowings and bank overdrafts divided by
summation of total bank borrowings, bank overdrafts and equity)
amounted to approximately 5.0% (2014: 10.2%).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEREREEEARED N (A

TREASURY POLICY

The Group generally financed its operations by internal cash
resources and bank financing. On 21 July 2015, the Company
placed and allotted 276,480,000 shares at HK$0.345 to
independent investors. The net proceeds of the placing was
approximately RMB74.9 million.

At 31 December 2015, cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB83.3 million (2014: RMB69.4
million), and approximately RMB65.0 million (2014: RMB42.4
million) of which are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
United States dollars. Taking into account the Group’s cash
reserves and recurring cash flows from its operations, the Group’s
financial position is stable and healthy.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Except 276,480,000 shares of the Company were issued and
allotted on 21 July 2015, there has been no material change in
the capital structure of the Group since 31 December 2014.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Majority of the assets and liabilities of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars. At 31 December 2015, the Group had no significant
exposure under foreign exchange contracts, interest, currency
swaps or other financial derivatives.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEREREEERED N (A

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2015, the Group held (i) approximately 300
million shares (approximately 7.8%) of Lerado Group (Holding)
Company Limited (“LG") and (ii) approximately 227.3 million
shares (approximately 1.5%) of China Jicheng Holdings Limited
(“CJH"). The shares of LG and CJH were listed on the Main Board
of Stock Exchange. The Group's investment in LG and CJH were
collectively referred to as the “Significant Investments”.

BEARE

RZTE—RAF+ZA=+—8 ' ZEEEFEFI)EKX
SEEER)BR AR ([FEKSEE )4 300,000,000
B R&AD (9 7.8% ) K i) RIS IE AR B IR A R ([ &
ERIERY 1) #9227,300,000 BEAZ(D (491.5%) ° BEAK
EEMEPRAERTERZBRORBZATER LT - &
EEPNEREERFREERERZRESRBAIEKR
wE] -

Detail of the Significant Investments are as follows: BAREBZFBENOT :
Year ended At
31 December 31 December
2015 At 31 December 2015 2014
BE-Z—4fF
+=A=+—H R-ZE—MOF
LFEE R-ZE—AF+=ZA=+—H +=B=+—H
Approximate
percentage Approximate
of held-for- percentage
Fair value Market trading to the Market
Company gain/(loss) Value investments net assets Value
B1E
AFEWE BEEREZ HEEFR
AAT (E#8) mE BAED ZHABEDL &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT AREFT
LG
FE Ak £ E (32,163) 37,437 11.1% 6.7% —
CJH
P B &R R IR 241,994 260,747 77.5% 46.4% —
Total
A&t 298,184 —

LG is principally engaged in providing financial services, and
manufacturing and distributing children plastic toys and medical
care products. CJH is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sale of POE umbrellas, nylon umbrellas and umbrella parts. Based
on the unaudited management accounts of the Group, the market
value of the Significant Investments at 30 March 2016 (approval
date for issuance of annual results) are approximately RMB268
million. The market sentiment has improved since September
2015. Looking ahead, the value of the Significant Investments may
be susceptible to the overall equity market conditions.

Except the Significant Investments, at 31 December 2015, there

was no investment held by the Group which value was more than
5% of the net assets of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBIWED N (A

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Except the disposal of business of trading of garment accessories
on 26 May 2015, there was no material acquisitions or disposal
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2015, the Group’'s buildings with a carrying
amounts of approximately RMB6.6 million (2014: RMB11.3
million) and prepaid land lease payments with a carrying amounts
of approximately RMB2.8 million (2014: RMB2.8 million) were
pledged to banks for bank borrowings.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 December 2015, the Group employed a total of 150
employees (2014: 173). The remuneration policy of the employees
of the Group was set up by the Board on the basis of their
experience, qualifications and competence. Other employees’
benefits include contributions to statutory mandatory provident
funds, and social insurance together with housing provident funds
to its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

A remuneration committee was set up for, inter alia, reviewing
the Group’s remuneration policy and structure for all directors and
senior management of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, business
partners and investors for their support and trust towards the
Group. Further, | would like to express my sincere thanks to our
Directors and employees for their dedications and contributions to
the Group.

By order of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEENEEESR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, aged 53, is the Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and founder of the Group. He
was appointed as an executive Director on 12 April 2010. He has
over 13 years of experience in the nonwoven textile industry. He
is responsible for formulating the Group’s corporate strategy,
overseeing its production operations and the overall steering of
the Group's strategic development.

Mr. Zhuang graduated from Xiamen Fisheries College in 1981
and was approved as a qualified engineer by the Intermediate
Level Adjudication Committee of Xiamen City Marine Engineering
Department in 1990. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Zhuang was the
director and the general manager of Xiamen Marine Industries
(Group) Co., Limited, a PRC incorporated company and was
previously listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin, aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director and company secretary on 30 June 2011. He graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Master of Corporate
Governance Degree and a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of both the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong was the financial controller
and company secretary of a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, namely Ching Hing (Holdings) Limited
(currently known as China Household Holdings Limited) (Stock
Code: 692), from September 2006 to October 2010. He has
extensive experience in accounting and corporate compliance.

Ms. Xiao Suni, aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director
on 14 October 2014. She has over 9 years of experience in the
field of international trading and marketing. She holds a Bachelor
of Arts degree from Nanjing Army Command College, the PRC
with major in English. She worked in door-window manufacturing
industry in China after her graduation in 2006. Since 2011,
she worked for a door-window manufacturer as foreign trade
manager, in which her responsibilities focused on overall
management of foreign sales and marketing.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mak Wai Ho, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 9 September 2011. He was graduated
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with
a Bachelor degree in Business Administration in Finance. He
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a practising member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a
practising certified public accountant and has more than 18 years
of experience in finance, accounting and auditing.

Mr. Mak was an independent non-executive director of Xinhua
Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd., (Stock code: 811)
from July 2013 to February 2016 and the company secretary and
financial controller of Kong Sun Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
295) from September 2005 to November 2009.

Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline, aged 37, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 4 September 2015. Ms.
Ng has over 10 years of experience in human resources and
corporate management. Ms. Ng obtained a Certificate of Human
Resources Management from Hong Kong Baptist University in
2011 and is currently a senior administrative officer of a renowned
international information technology company in Hong Kong.

Ms. Sung Kwan Wun, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 August 2013. Ms. Sung engaged
in import and export industry for more than 25 years. She held
management positions in several trading companies and was
responsible for regional marketing strategy and internal staff
training. Ms. Sung has extensive knowledge in corporate operation
management, and in marketing in the PRC and Europe. Moreover,
she is experienced in investing in real estate and commodity
futures.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wang Haiying, aged 46, has been the deputy general
manager of Joystar Wuxi since 2007 and is responsible for
overseeing the production process and quality control of the
Group.

Ms. Wang graduated from Wuhan Institute of Textile Engineering
(currently known as Wuhan Textile University) in 1994, specialising
in textile engineering. She has extensive experience in the
industrial use textile industry and joined the Group as the head of
quality control department of Joystar (Wuxi) Automotive Interior
Decoration Co., Ltd. (“Joystar Wuxi") in 2004.

Mr. Han Zhiqing, aged 62, has been the deputy general manager
of Joystar Wuxi since 2004 and is responsible for coordinating the
technological development and mechanical support for the Group.

Mr. Han graduated from Shanghai Wool and Jute Textile Company
Workers' University in 1982, specialising in woolen textile. Mr.
Han has over 10 years of extensive experience in the industrial use
textile industry.

Ms. Wu Danping, aged 41, is the manager of the accounting
department of Joystar Wuxi. Ms. Wu is responsible for the
financial reporting and the management of the accounting and
finance department of Joystar Wuxi.

Ms. Wu obtained the Certificate of Accounting Professional
issued by the Jiangsu Province Department of Finance and the
Qualification Certificate of Specialty and Technology with specialty
in accountancy conferred by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in
1997 and 2006 respectively.

In 2008, Ms. Wu completed an online diploma programme in
accountancy from China Agricultural University. She has 17 years
of experience in financial accounting and reporting.

Mr. Wu Ganghua, aged 45, is the manager of the sales and
marketing department of Joystar Wuxi. He is responsible for the
sales and marketing operation of Joystar Wuxi.

In 1990, Mr. Wu graduated from Jiangsu Province Wuxi City
College of Mechanical Manufacturing (currently known as Wuxi
Institute of Technology). He was qualified as an assistant engineer
in mechanical manufacturing by Wuxi City Professional Title
Reform Committee in 1996. Mr. Wu further obtained a graduation
certificate from Nanjing Normal University in 1999. Mr. Wu joined
Joystar Wuxi in 2004.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PN
EREBRSE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report
for the year ended 31 December 2015. This report highlights the
key corporate governance practices of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on principles and code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”). Except for the deviation from Code provision
A.2.1 and A.6.7, the Company complied with the Code for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Such
deviation from Code provision A.2.1 is deemed appropriate as it is
considered to be more efficient to have one single person as the
Chairman of the Company as well as to discharge the executive
functions of a chief executive officer, and it provides the Group
with strong and consistent leadership in the development and
execution of long term business strategies. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises highly experienced
individuals. There are three independent non-executive Directors
on the Board. All of them possess adequate independence and
therefore the Board considers the Company has achieved balance
and provided sufficient protection of its interests.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that non-executive Directors
should attend general meetings of the Company. Owing to other
business engagements, two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Feng Xueben and Ms. Sung Kwan Wun, were unable to attend
the general meetings of the Company held on 5 June 2015.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry with all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied
with the code of conduct and the required standard of dealings
concerning securities transactions by the Directors during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At 31 December 2015, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Ho Yin
Ms. Xiao Suni

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho

Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline

Ms. Sung Kwan Wun

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of the Group. The biographical details of the Directors
and the relationship among the members of the Board are set
out in the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 12 to 14 of this report.

Generally, the responsibilities of the Board include:
o Formulation of overall strategic development of the Group;

o Monitoring the financial performance and internal control of
the Group’s business operations;

o Material acquisitions, investments, disposal of assets or any
significant capital expenditure;

o Appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members
and auditors;

. Remuneration of Directors;
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_l' China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited

FRESETREXRZNTASTA

ARRERMEBEFETESFRXHNITRTH
HAEFRA Tt ERRIER 10 BT AESEST
ELHEXHNFETAMBZIRIZEARERRE - &
AEREFFHEFTERR  AARERERBES
RAFEARAY-—BETFTIRATHRAHRESLETE
HFR PR HERNBE -

=g
R-Z-—AF+-A=+—8 EFGHTIZ=E
RITEER=LBEIIFNTESEN :

BITES
HRESRE(ZE)
BEANSELE
HErfe it

BYFHTES

EEgNRRTE SREFTHRABRINTEN
B BZOHCERRBRELRHRN S LEREEE
BEBNERKN - EENBEEFBREFEKE
ZEONBAEHERARELE 2EEZE4ENEER
SREEENEEEM]

—RME EFENRERE

o HIEAREMERREER

o  ERAKERBKENMERENAMER

o  BAWE RE HEEEXEMNEREALRHM
%

o Zff ERUENEAEEFTSRE RKEED

e  EEME:




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
TEERRE (&)

o Communications with key stakeholders;
J Recommendation and declaration of any interim and final
dividends

Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The Board
delegates day-to-day activities to the management with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the business.
The non-executive Directors serve the relevant function of bringing
independent judgment on the development, performance and risk
management of the Group through their contributions in board
meetings. They are also serving on remuneration committee,
nomination committee and audit committee.

During the year, the Board complies with the requirement of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one of them has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has received from
each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board normally has four regular meetings a year at quarterly
interval and meets as and when required to discuss the overall
business, development strategy, operations and financial reporting
of the Company. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. During the year ended
31 December 2015, thirteen Board meetings and one general
meeting were held. The following table shows the attendance of
individual Directors at the meetings held during the year:

No. of Attendance

General Board
Members meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 11 13/13
Mr. Wong Ho Yin 11 13/13
Ms. Xiao Suni 0/1 9/13
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho i 10/13
Ms. Sung Kwan Wun 0/1 8/13
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline (appointed on 0/0 3/5

4 September 2015)

Mr. Feng Xueben (retired on 5 June 2015) 0/1 173
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The Directors will receive details of agenda and minutes of
committee meetings in advance of and after each Board meeting
respectively. The company secretary will distribute relevant
documents to the Directors in a timely manner to enable the
Directors to make informed decisions on matters to be raised at
the Board meetings. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the company secretary who is responsible for ensuring
the procedures of the Board meetings are complied with and
advising the Board on compliance matters.

In addition, the Company has maintained a procedure for the
Directors to seek independent professional advice, in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their
duties to the Company. Moreover, the company secretary
prepares minutes of the Board meetings and keeps records of
matters discussed and decisions resolved at all Board meetings.
The company secretary also keeps the minutes of the Board
meetings, which are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Such deviation from Code provision A.2.1 is
deemed appropriate as it is considered to be more efficient to
have one single person as the Chairman of the Company as
well as to discharge the executive functions of a chief executive
officer, and it provides the Group with strong and consistent
leadership in the development and execution of long term business
strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board
which comprises highly experienced individuals. There are three
independent non-executive Directors on the Board. All of them
possess adequate independence and therefore the Board considers
the Company has achieved balance and provided sufficient
protection of its interests.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of
the Directors are required to retire from office at each annual
general meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once in every three years. A
Director appointed since the most recent annual general meeting
shall hold office only until the next general meeting and shall
then be eligible for re-election. The independent non-executive
Directors were appointed at specific terms for one year.

‘I Annual Report 2015

I"China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited

EENFIREBREZTEERBTANRKIFAZE
BNZE@ER LR  RANEHERRNESS
BERXMH  UWEERLERARESSERRLZ
EEHEHAMBRE 2RBEFVEFRARANWENE
RERE MARMERERREESIZFCOEE
SoYHEREENEESRLERS

o RRARERIZ—ERF  REEEAHEBR
T RETESARRZBER  SRETIEEER
R MAXBARBEXM - B RAWETEH

RIEEEEER LARMZEERBRIRE @ R
HERLBIRTFEBLE - ARANETRFES
SRR YARTMESFLAERNEK &
Ef A A BB

EIRRITHRAR
RETAGIEA 21 ERETRARNAEE
BES  TREE—ARBRE -

HBELE/SANRARIEFERITRAH - BRARREST
AMEXFEA2 NV GENBERBRSIEE - AR H
— AEEARRREFALEITITHAENTT IR
EEAME - BRAEHEEHEAKR -BHEE
TEERRETRENEBERE BEFERE &
EThRBEENATAR  HEZTSIMNEFRE

DHERENGIHEG EFB =—RBILIFNT
EX - @HRREDATINBILMN  BHHEESR
R AREEEISTE - WEERDSREARRR T

sz
m °

- EERERE
REARRZABERAR  REERRBFAE
bt BER=NDZ-MNEFART EBREFEHEE
LE=FHERT R EZENEEEHHRED
HERBFASEETERRAGRIL YRS
RERBEE - BUFATESTHEBECHRERE—
F o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
TEERRE (&)

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code provision A.6.5, all Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. All the Directors
also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable
training or read relevant materials in order to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company has received from
each Director a confirmation of their participation in continuous
professional development by attending training course or reading
relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year, the Board adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on 13
September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management, reviewing
the terms of remuneration packages, determining the award
of bonuses and considering the grant of options under the
share option scheme of the Company. At 31 December 2015,
the remuneration committee comprises one executive Director,
namely, Mr. Zhuang Yuejin and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho (chairman of the remuneration
committee) and Ms. Sung Kwan Wun.

During the year, two meetings was held by the remuneration
committee to discuss, among other things, the remuneration policy
of the Group and determine the remuneration of the Directors.
The following table shows the attendance of individual members
at the meetings held during the year:

Members No. of Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho 2/2
Ms. Sung Kwan Wun 0/2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee on 13
September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
making recommendations to the Board regarding candidates
to fill vacancies on the Board, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors. The nomination committee
comprises one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
(chairman of the nomination committee), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho and Ms. Ng Li
La, Adeline.
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During the year, two meetings was held by the nomination
committee to, among other things, review the structure, size
and composition of the board and assess the independence of
each of the independent non-executive Directors. The nomination
committee also reviewed the board diversity policy to ensure
its effectiveness and considered the Group achieved the policy
since its adoption. The following table shows the attendance of
individual members at the meeting held during the year:

Members No. of Attendance
Executive Director

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho 2/2
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 0/1

(appointed on 4 September 2015)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 13 September
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Code. The primary duties of the audit committee are, among
other things, to review the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management system of the
Group. At 31 December 2015, the audit committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai
Ho (chairman of the audit committee), Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline and
Ms. Sung Kwan Wun.

During the year, four meetings were held by the audit committee,
two of which was with the attendance of external auditors. The
following table shows the attendance of individual members at the
meetings held during the year:

Members No. of Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho 4/4
Ms. Sung Kwan Wun 4/4
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 1Al

(appointed on 4 September 2015)

During the year, the audit committee, among other things,
reviewed the interim and annual reports as well as result
announcements before submission to the Board. The audit
committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in review of the Company’s interim and annual reports as well
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as result announcements. The audit committee also reviewed
the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems and make recommendation to the Board on the
re-appointment of the external auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the Code provision D.3.1.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, continuous professional development of Directors,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Listing Rules, and
the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit committee is responsible for considering the
appointment of the external auditors and also reviews any non-
audit functions performed by the external auditors for the Group,
including whether such non-audit functions could lead to any
potential material adverse effect on the Group. During the vyear,
the auditors performed the work of statutory audit for the year of
2015. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the remuneration
payable and paid to the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited were as follows:

B IRT
FFEZIRTE

Audit services
Non-audit services

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an adequate
and effective internal control system to safeguard the Company’s
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, and to protect the
interests of shareholders of the Company.

The audit committee assumes the overall responsibility for
reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal
control system.
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During the year, the Board has discussed and reviewed the
relevant proposals made by senior management in order to
ensure an adequate and effective system of internal control. The
Board, through the audit committee, has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015, which
covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls functions.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
As an employee of the Company, Mr. Wong Ho Yin, the company
secretary of the Company, has undertaken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training to update his skills and knowledge
in 2015.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedure for nominating a new Director

Pursuant to Article 83(2) of the articles and association of
the Company (the "Articles”), subject to the Articles and the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing
Board.

Procedure for convening an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholder
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition and such
meeting shall be held within 2 months from the date of deposit of
the requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Procedure for sending enquires to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect of
their rights to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These
include the publication of annual and interim reports, notices,
announcements, circulars and constitutional documents, the
Company’s website at www.joystar.com.hk and meetings with
investors and analysts.

The Company encourages all shareholders to attend the annual
general meetings to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals. It provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and its shareholders. The chairman of the
meeting explains the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and
then answers any questions from shareholders. The poll results
are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board does not aware of any changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Group. The auditors of the Company is responsible to form
an independent opinion based on the audit, on the financial
statements prepared by the Directors and report the opinion solely
to the shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
nonwoven fabric products used in automotive interior decoration
parts and other parts, and trading of rubber.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2015 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 35 and 36.

The state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31
December 2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the statement of financial position on pages
37 to 38 and note 48 respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of financial results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Summary of
Financial Information” on page 128 in this report.

RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 39. The movements in the reserves of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set
out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution to owners of the Company comprising share
premium account amounted to approximately RMB114,969,000
(2014: RMB55,060,000).
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 56.8% (2014: 39.0%)
of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
accounted for approximately 27.1% (2014: 11.6%) of total sales.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 40.0% (2014: 24.0%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 11.9% (2014: 6.0%) of total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during
the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
Mr. Wong Ho Yin
Ms. Xiao Suni

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Mak Wai Ho

Ms, Ng Li La, Adeline (appointed on 4 September 2015)
Ms. Sung Kwan Wun

Mr. Feng Xueben (retired on 5 June 2015)

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin and Ms. Sung Kwan Wun shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. All the retiring Directors are
eligible for re-elections.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 14 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors, including those proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service
agreement which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Board on the basis of their experience, qualifications and
competence.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company are reviewed
by the remuneration committee of the Company and approved
by the Board, having regard to the relevant Director’s experience,
responsibility, workload and the time devoted to the Group; the
Company's operating results and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 5 June 2015 to which the Directors and eligible employees,
among others are entitled to participate in. The Company operates
the Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Details of the Scheme are set out in paragraph “Share
Option Scheme” below.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest

paid individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as known to the Directors, at 31 December 2015, the
interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and/or short positions of which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO) or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (“Model Code”), were
as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name of Directors

ExpLE SO RERNME

Beneficial owner
EmERA

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
TRRMESEE

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2015, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or of any other body corporate
granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to
acquire such rights in the Company or any body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed under the section "DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES" INTEREST IN SECURITIES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” on page 28 of this report, at 31 December 2015,
the Directors of the Company were not aware of any persons who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company in accordance with the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO; or be recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTOR'’S
INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of
the Directors, the controlling shareholder and their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) that compete or
may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group during the year.

INTEREST IN COMPETING

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in section “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTEREST IN SECURITIES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES”
on page 28 of this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, or its subsidiaries, or its fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to issue of this report, the Company has
maintained the sufficient public float under the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no material
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2015 are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set
out in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association the Directors and every one
of them is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which the Directors or any of them,
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the
Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year which provides appropriate cover
for legal actions brought against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEgRE(#E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective date of
the Scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant
options to the eligible participants, including but not limited to,
any Directors (whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not) and any employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Group or any other person, who has contributed to
the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect to which options may
be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the Scheme.
The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that the new limit
must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. However, the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time. At 31 December 2015, the total number
of shares available for issued under the Scheme was 138,240,000
shares, which represented approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of adopting the Scheme. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the shares in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period unless approval of the shareholders of the Company has
been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of
the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may
be determined by the Directors. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets on the date of the grant of the options; (ii) the
average closing price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the options; or (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

During the year, no share option was granted, exercised, expired
or lapsed and there is no outstanding share option under the
Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEgRE(#E)

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code. Having
made specific enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed
that all Directors have complied with the code of conduct and the
required standard of dealings concerning securities transactions by
the Directors during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 December, 2015, the Company entered into the Engagement
Agreement with Opus Capital Management, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to: (i) make an investment of HK$300,000,000 in
the Fund; (ii) appoint Opus Capital Management as the Investment
Manager of the Fund; and (iii) appoint Opus Capital Management
to set up the Fund.

On 10 December 2015, the Company entered into the First
Supplemental Agreement with Opus Capital Management
to increase the Proposed Committed Investment from
HK$300,000,000 to HK$350,000,000.

On 23 December 2015, the Company entered into the Second
Supplemental Agreement with Opus Capital Management, with
respect to the terms of the Fund. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 3 December 2015, 10 December
2015, 25 January 2016 and 16 February 2016.

AUDITORS

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B M A% AR

HL

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 35 to 127, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

B st F oA R A A
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Continued)
BYZBENRE (F)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2015 and of the its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERsREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE=F-—AF+=A=+—AUFE

2015 2014
—E-RF —E—E
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Bt AR¥ET R AREETTT
Revenue WA 9 195,804 357,251
Cost of sales $HE AR (165,432) (307,113)
Gross profit ER 30,372 50,138
Other income LN 10 183,706 11,864
Selling and distribution costs $HE N D A AN (8,799) (9,126)
Share of loss of an associate B E A EEE 22 (6,114) (2,721)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &S W EQ Rz e 3,709 —
Administrative expenses 1T (33,093) (17,937)
Profit from operations BRI 11 169,781 32,218
Finance costs Bl & AR 12 (1,775) (2,708)
Profit before tax BRB RIER 168,006 29,510
Income tax expense Frisfif X 13 (36,029) (3,630)
Profit for the year attributable to the AR THEAABILEEZRF
owners of the Company 131,977 25,880

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
meRBERAMEEKER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—F—AFT_H=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—B-RF —E-F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
lika AR®TT ARBTFT
Profit for the year FERA 131,977 25,880
Other comprehensive income FEHM2EWKE
for the year, net of income tax: HRFEE# :
Items that may be reclassified HENEHFSEZAEN
subsequently to EHE :
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEG 2 EH Z5E
foreign operations 22,506 341
Total other comprehensive income FEHMZEKSEE
for the year 22,506 341
Total comprehensive income for the AATDEEAEGEER2A
year attributable to the owners of Wzt EE
the Company 154,483 26,221
Earnings per share SREF RMB RMB
ARYE AR
— Basic and diluted — EARR#EE 14 8.8 centsfl 2.1 cents{l

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

BEPM BV FERB AU SR R B IS IRER A — 8D -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
a IR R R

At 31 December 2015
RZF—AaF+=ZA=1+—H

2015 2014
—E-HF —E-MEF
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
k3 AR®T T ARBF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M -~ WE N RE 18 49,166 45,661
Investment properties wEME 19 — 4,424
Prepaid land lease payments TEf L E IR 20 2,698 2,771
Deferred tax assets BEPIBEE 38 — 1,247
Interest in an associate NN fEop s £ 22 — 6,114
Goodwill EES 23 7,286 51,099
59,150 111,316
Current assets REBEE
Prepaid land lease payments AN T ERIE 20 73 73
Inventories F& 24 15,663 15,896
Trade receivables FEWE 5 508 25 101,531 86,755
Bills receivables JE U =A% 4,395 6,037
Prepayments, deposits and other TERIE - e REHA
receivables FEW IR 26 52,683 43,614
Held-for-trading investments BIEEERE 27 336,349 68,486
Pledged bank deposit EHRPRITF K 28 — 6,137
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHEH 29 83,345 69,421
594,039 296,419
Total assets EEHAE 653,189 407,735
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to AAREAEAELHELRR
the owners of the Company @&
Share capital AR 7R 30 134,837 113,062
Reserves ke 31 427,052 220,058
Total equity SRR 561,889 333,120
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

mEMBRRR(H)

At 31 December 2015
RZF—AF+=A=1+—H

2015 2014
—E-FF —T—MmF
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
k3 AR®TR ARETTT
LIABILITIES 8E&
Non-current liabilities kRBER
Bank borrowings SRITER 35 — 4,400
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE 38 35,436 —
35,436 4,400
Current liabilities rEBaE
Trade payables FERE 5508 33 12,239 22,174
Derivative financial liability PTHEEEARE 32 — 1,000
Accruals and other payables FEET & A I H fth B < 5RIE 34 10,728 10,368
Bank borrowings RITIER 35 29,500 30,500
Bank overdrafts RITBEX 36 — 2,908
Tax payable &1 B 18 3,397 3,265
55,864 70,215
Total liabilities EEAE 91,300 74,615
Total equity and liabilities ERRABEE 653,189 407,735
Net current assets REBEETFHE 538,175 226,204
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBER 597,325 337,520

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016 and signed RZ-ZT—XRE=A=+HHEZSHEWLHTIA

on its behalf by: TREEE -
Zhuang Yuejin Wong Ho Yin
RE EER
Director Director
0 EE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

BEM OB RERB AR L AR B B S Rk —RE D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE —FE—nFT-H=+—HIFE

Foreign

currency
Share Share Merger translation Statutory Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity

Bx Bfa® AfEE  ARAERRE EERE RERA BHLE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETL  ARBTL  ARBTR  ARBTn  AR%TR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2014 RZE-EE-A-H 94,829 24.027 5,992 354 10,528 103,993 239,723
Profit for the year Byl - - - - - 25,880 25,880
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ FEEM2EUNE - - - E1 - - 341
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ SE2ANHEE - - - 341 - 25,880 26,21
Issue of shares Bk 18,233 51,055 — — — — 69,288
Share issue expenses BOETlb - (2,112) — - - - 2.112)
Transfer 10 statutory reserve ERTERRE - - - - 1,290 (1,290) -
At 31 December 2014 and R-B-ME+-A=t-BR

1 January 2015 “F-1f-F-A 113,062 72,970 5992 695 11,818 128,583 333,120
Profit for the year EFat - - - - - 131,977 131,977
Other comprehensive income for the year £ E{2EUE - - - 22,506 - - 22,506
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ £E2EHEE - - - 22,506 - 131,977 154,483
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries HENBAFEED - - - (511) - - (511)
Issue of shares upon placing REEZEREARG 21,775 53,350 - - - - 75,125
Share issue expenses BihEnEx - (328) - - - - (328)
At 31 December 2015 R-B-RE+ZA=1-A 134,837 125,992 5,992 22,690 11,818 260,560 561,889

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A N — 1
TAERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2015
B —F—AF+_HA=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —E-mE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHEENRERE
Profit before tax MR 4 Bz 168,006 29,510
Adjustments for: FUTEEBEELAR
Interest expenses T ERX 1,775 2,708
Interest income FMEWA (738) (92)
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables BEWE ZRIEERN R EER 43 61
Inventories written off fFE s 200 39
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEREITE 4,997 4,348
Depreciation of investment properties REYENE — 134
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o B B A R A Ui e (3,709) —
Impairment loss recognised on goodwill HEBRARRREERE 16,239 —
Impairment loss recognised on amount due from TR ULHE 2 N R SRIE R AURE
an associate E518 3,169 —
Fair value gain on held-for-trading investments BEEEREMMTESRIT AR
and derivatives financial instrument N ERE (178,732) (8,494)
Share of loss of an associate FE(REE 2 N FEE 6,114 2,721
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TR+ Mo & FRIE 8 73 73
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment H&E¥E « HE LR EEIE 24 1
Operating profit before working capital changes EEESE ML E R 17,461 31,009
Decrease in inventories FERD 33 5,925
Increase in trade receivables FEUE 5 IEE N (30,311) (10,806)
Decrease in bills receivables EWRRER D 1,642 7,071
Decrease in derivative financial liability THEESRaER D — 1,000
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TR RIE ~ RE & H A eI G IE
other receivables 0 (12,238) (17,573)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERE SEHECRD) 1 (6,750) 1,805
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and other payables FEEE A R E M E N FRIEE I
CRLA) 360 (5,306)
Purchase of held-for-trading investments BERIEEERE (65,470) (58,391)
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading HEBIEEBREMBRIA
investments 31,405 26,034
Net cash used in operations KEFTAR 58 (63,868) (19,232)
Interest paid ERAE (1,775) (2,677)
Tax refund BF 404 43
Income taxes paid EEREH (1,192) (4,363)
Net cash used in operating activities KBTI ERE (66,431) (26,229)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHEENRESRE
Interest received A S 738 92
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  WEM&E (8,528) (3,384)
Addition of construction in progress EEIBAE — (5,589)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposit BRI RITIE BB (38 0) 6,137 (23)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - BERJESHIE
and equipment 2 1
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNBRRNRERAFHE 4,204 —
Proceeds of investment in an associate REt S N R E TS IE — (3,940)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities & EEFEL(FTH )RS E5E 2,553 (12,843)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
mERERBR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —F—AaF+-A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—g-8§ -—T-mF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%F ARBFT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REIHELENRESRE
Proceeds from borrowings BERETERIE 43,000 35,166
Repayment of borrowings BEER (43,372) (29,336)
Share issuing expenses MR BT (328) (2,112)
Repayment of promissory note EEANEE — (15,844)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT RS RUA 75,125 69,288
Net cash generated from financing activities BEEESIRE F5E 74,425 57,162
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents REeRESESEMEMEE 10,547 18,090
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of REVHNRERBELZEY
the year 66,513 48,515
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes INEETE R B R & 6,285 (92)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end REANRESRELEEY
of the year 83,345 66,513
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash RERRSEEYERTN
equivalents
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITER 83,345 69,421
Bank overdrafts RITHEX — (2,908)
83,345 66,513

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—F—AFT_H=+—HIFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9
December 2009 with limited liability. The registered office
of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands.
The address of the Group’s principal place of business is
located at No. 28 Xinfeng Road, Xinfeng Industrial Park,
Fanggian Town, New District, Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Its parent and
ultimate holding company is China Automotive Interior
Decoration Holdings Limited (incorporated in Cayman
Islands). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
(2014: Mr. Zhuang Yuejin), who is also the Chairman and
Managing Director of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other parts and trading of rubber.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousands, except when otherwise indicated.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM"”) on 29 September 2010. On 25 August
2014, the Company transferred the listing of its shares from
GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following amendments HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current
year:

Amendments to HKAS19  Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions
Annual improvement to HKFRSs

2010-2012 cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvement to HKFRSs

2011-2013 cycle

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by the Stock Exchange
relating to the disclosure of financial information with
reference to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) during the reporting period. The main impact to the
financial statements is on the presentation and disclosure of
certain information in the financial statements.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE M B |RME(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 14

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 and
HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Regulatory Deferral Accounts’

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint operations'

Disclosure Initiative'

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Investment entities: Applying the
consolidation exception'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016,

with earlier application permitted.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,

with earlier application permitted.

determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on

or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential impact
of the above new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application
but is not yet in a position to state whether the above new
and revised HKFRSs, will have a significant impact on the
Group's results of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MR AR (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —F—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS
9 was amended in 2010 to include requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition, and in 2013 to include the new requirements
for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of
HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and b) limited amendments
to the classification and measurement requirements by
introducing a ‘fair value through other comprehensive
income’ ("FVTOCI"”) measurement category for certain simple
debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of
an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable
to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under
HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as fair value through
profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

FERHIREETERMBREER
(IR BRELER D) 2

EBMBHRELENEIN — T A

REZFZFNFROENBTEVHERELENE IR
HEREEZDBRAESIAFMRE - FEM
BHRELNEIRN T —FF T IMEFTAH
AZBRBENDBRFAENRBUEERNR
AR T—=F FETABE —RE
BEDARFRE c RZE—MERMGHE B
BRELNFE IR S —ERBTRAETEZMA
AEREREEZRERERDERE THE
EHTASIAERBEMEEKERAFET
FITEBHEMEARSRAFEIRDE
Bhl - B EREFHARET -

BEEVBRERUFIRZEERESH M
™

BEBeERE39%[emIA : R K
EISENAZHACEREREERRYA
BB HK AR A FERE © HF5RI2 B &R KE
BRRSREZEHRANMTE - REHNR
EREE/AE R RERASZMENTKZ
BIRIRE - —RNE R RS R IR SR AN G
B - TAEHRMERRE RESHEREHNER
SRR AFERE - I EF B BR
SREAFIFIAT - BREAIEL TAIME &
B REpEERET 2 ERERE (LI
FIFEE) A FEZERES  ERAREK
ABERBERTER -

SIEERAHEIIRA ARG ZERAE
EME  BEMBMERREIRRE @ f5E
BoFEIRGFABRZERAEREERR
SESMERNTFEZH 2 HE - FRIFNEMLE
HRETERZABCEERRES T ES
BRABANBRT 2 EHEE - BRIANRKE
fEERET 27 - hEBBEZEERRN
SIHERABZAFEREHHRTIEENIE
EREH - ERRBEEB G ERF 395 -
BERATEIRAANEGZZERBEZAT
B8 HE2HEINBETF -

—E-hFER

MENEAGEMERAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently
available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9, greater flexibility
has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible
for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the
types of risk components of non-financial items that are
eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the retrospective
quantitative effectiveness test has been removed. Enhanced
disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management
activities have also been introduced.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) do not
anticipate the new and revised HKFRSs will have a material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

FERHIREETERMBREER
(IR BRELER D) 2

ERMBBEEANFEIR — T@MITH
(%)

HREREENREMNS  HEBGHELSE
I9FBE TN RCELEFEBREAGFERR -
FEMBREENFEIFRRERBHEEER
BAGHE - BHEEEERARETERN ST
SRMKEREERRARZFRHMEEERD
AR - URREEE R B VA FER AR
B -HEZ BABFELECEFHIER
EEER -

M—REETREREREEEGENE
39MIMAM ZFE NS - REFEM
BREERNE IS - AIFHHPEFRENR S
BRIEMEE - LERABREREHTAD
TRER R AMES RS RENIFSRIER M
RRERNES - 1o - BRETEPELRA
AR TEXREFHERRREREBNRKE
RE e

ARRIER(EF )BT MEETEEM
BmEENHAREGAMBRRLBEAY
2 .

ERUBMELAEISHE — REEF
B zkE

R-ZE—MELA  SROEOTBHFBRELE
AEISRBIEE—2ERAHREEANER
FaOEENKRAR - BEMBHREERSE
155 AR BMABEHHNE B G ERNE
18I - BAERERE N REESOR
HEREN K ERES -

‘I Annual Report 2015

I"China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

—  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

—  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

—  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

—  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

—  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 15.

The Director is in the process of assessing the potential
impact of the HKFRS 15 upon initial application but is not
yet in a position to state whether the HKFRS 15, will have a
significant impact on the Group’s result of operations and
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

3.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the
disclosure requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding
annual accounts have been amended with reference to
the new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly
the presentation and disclosure of information in the
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2015 have been changed to comply with these
new requirements. Comparative information in respect of
the financial year ended 31 December 2014 are presented
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements based
on the new requirements. Information previously required
to be disclosed under the predecessor CO or Listing Rules
but not under the new CO or amended Listing Rules are not
disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair
values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use
in HKAS 36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —F—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

3.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

—  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

—  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (the
“Interpretations”) issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except certain financial instruments
are measured at their fair values at the end of each reporting
period. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EgstBzE#E)
(Continued)
Basis of preparation (Continued) REIEXE ()

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgments
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Company has
power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and has the
ability to use its power to affect its return.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the
subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity,
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if
the Company had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly
to retained earnings). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’ cash-generating units that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over these policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the
Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group's share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate,
the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognized as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less cost of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognized in accordance with HKAS36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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F-AF+_H=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits or losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyers, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principle outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to the assets net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Technical support income is recognised when the technical
support services are rendered.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance assets are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the
lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
charged directly to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Rental payable under operating leases are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the terms
of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added in to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception
of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid land
lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire
lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an
increase in the future economic benefits expected to be
obtained from the use of the property, plant and equipment,
the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal useful lives are as
follows:

Building 30 years
Plant and machinery 12 years
Motor vehicles 8 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements
under construction and plant and machinery pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Depreciation begins when the relevant asset are available for
use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes). Investment properties are
measured initial at cost, including transaction costs. All of
the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
accounted for as investment properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EgstBzE#E)
(Continued)
Investment properties (Continued) REYE(E)

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from

REMENSRAA(BRENEREEM)
8 - RYITHRE - REMETDRRARE
BEFITEREMNRABEBEIIE - HETD
R EYE A A E R E A REGER
HREERABREMFHEKRE -

REMEREE  KAERRBEHHETE®S
HORRAE BN G4 L TERR - SR ILRERBYE P
EEE RSB IETE SRS IR F R

the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of BEROAECEZENE  RZUERILEERZ
the property (calculated as the difference between the net M RET ATEER ©

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is

included in profit or loss in the period in which the property

is derecognised.

Inventories 7E

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Impairment of assets (other than goodwiill,
intangible assets with indefinite lives)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —F—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of the other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“financial assets at FVTPL"). The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

Br—
4,

F-AF+_H=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains and losses”.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit
or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For financial assets, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

(b) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

(c) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

(d) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of 7 to 90 days, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
The Group’'s financial liabilities are generally classified into
other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasrued to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated
and effective as a hedging instrument, in which case the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EgstBzE#E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRITEE)
Financial guarantee contracts B BERE

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On the derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On the derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount
of the financial asset between the part it continues to
recognise, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis
of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of
the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount
allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer
recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
allocated between the part that continues to be recognised
and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the
relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Current assets and liabilities

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the end of the reporting period or in the normal
course of the Group’s operating cycle. Current liabilities are
expected to be settled within twelve months of the end of
the reporting period or in the normal course of the Group's
operating cycle.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XEgHEBE#E)

(Continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent RREBERIAREE

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from FABEEEBTEHMAIESIENEE - %
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by EEAERERKNS RAEB T RIEHIM
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain EMGERAREES TUER - SKABEN
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It AEEABTEHSIBEREEE - HARTET
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that FELBEERAL - AEESRBE T FEiE
is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow EMREER - KARBEBETSWHER - ST
of economic resources will be required or the amount IRAMBHRERMTEARE o WERRK LM 8
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent M mE R A LR E RN - RZEA
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the EASHER RS -

consolidated financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,
they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past RAEERABEEHMAEENEE @ %
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the EEEAMERUNE RAKEE T 2
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain EMGERABEET TURR - AREED
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. SWHER  ESRLECEN R RERARESS
A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the SRR N HEER o AT BEERRIRA - %
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an LEERTUER -

inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is
virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Foreign currencies Ihits

i.  Functional and presentation currency i. DERZIEY
ltems included in the financial statements of each RSEARNAIEBS AR ZHBREMS
of the companies now comprising the Group are EREDREARMEE 2 FERERENE
measured using the currency of the primary economic B(TThee B Dt 2 - SRe B mER A
environment in which the company operates (the AREEZ3] BARARZZ2HEEUAK
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial AEEBTBEENBRARZNEEE -
statements are presented in Renminbi, which is the ARG N EERBT - EEFRA
Company’s presentation currency and the functional BEREARBERZINEENERFEER
currency of the principal operating subsidiary of the RREEERTR -

Group. The functional currency of the Company
is Hong Kong dollars. The directors consider that
choosing Renminbi as the presentation currency best
suits the needs of the shareholders and investors.

 Annual Report 2015

~ China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEE:tBE#E)
(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued) I (4Z)

ii. Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are reported as part of their fair
value gain or loss.

iii. Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the companies
now comprising the Group (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

(@) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate;

(b) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates; and

() All resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and
of borrowings and other currency instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are taken to owners’ equity.
When a foreign operation is sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations of the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC are
required to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for all its PRC employees at certain percentages
of the basic salaries predetermined by the local
governments. The state-sponsored retirement plan is
responsible for the entire retirement benefit obligations
payable to retired employees and the Group has no
further obligations for the actual retirement benefit
payments or other post-retirement benefits beyond the
annual contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EgstBzE#E)
(Continued)
Share-based payment arrangements DR AER N RH
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions UEGZEUARGBEREZ NS
Share options granted to employees KT IESRERE

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding
the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-
based transactions are set out in note 47 to the Group's
consolidation financial statements.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
equity-settled employee benefits reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
equity. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will continue
to be held in share option reserve/ will be transferred to
retained profits.

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services received, except where that fair
value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the
counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the
goods or services received are recognised as expenses, with
a corresponding increase in equity, when the Group obtains
the goods or when the counterparties render services, unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

For cash-settled share-based payment, a liability is recognised
for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the
fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period
until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement,
the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE-F-—art-A=+—ALFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type of class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or entity is preparing the financial statements
of the Group;

(2) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(3) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(3) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (2).

(vii) A person identified in (2)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any number of a group of which
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or the Group’s parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which
are described in Note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade receivables based on
assessments of the recoverability of the trade receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each debtor. Impairment arises where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful
debts requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where
the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the reporting
period in which such estimate has been changed.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —F—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Impairment of non-current assets

If a triggering event occurs indicating that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable, an assessment
of the carrying amount of that asset will be performed.
Triggering events include significant adverse changes in
the market value of an asset, changes in the business
or regulatory environment, or certain legal events. The
interpretation of such events requires judgment from
management with respect to whether such an event has
occurred. Upon the occurrence of triggering events, the
carrying amounts of non-current assets are reviewed to
assess whether their recoverable amounts have declined
below their carrying amounts. The recoverable amount is
the present value of estimated net future cash flows which
the Group expects to generate from the future use of the
asset, plus the assets residual value on disposal. Where the
recoverable amount of non-current assets is less than its
carrying value, an impairment loss is recognised to write the
assets down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the management to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of the future cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. E@WMIA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) ¢RI EDE

2015 2014
—E-1F —ET—-mF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT

Financial assets: ETRMEE
Held-for-trading investments BIEEBERE 336,349 68,486

Loans and receivables (including cash and ERNEWFBE(BERE R

cash equivalents) BEEEY) 224,905 199,433

Financial liabilities: SEEeE:
Derivative financial liability PTETRAasE — 1,000
Amortised cost K AR 52,467 70,350

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and
fair value interest rate risks and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of
the Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial
structure and the current operations of the Group,
no major hedging activities are undertaken by
management.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. SETHM®
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) KEREEEERBEE)

and policies (Continued)

Market risk 5 E s

Foreign currency risk SME L B

(i)  Exposure to foreign currency risk (i)  AZINERE Pz
The Group mainly operates in the People’s AEBEERPEAREME([H
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong Bl ) REBLEHER - WEAR
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising TRMNEEERNINERE - =25
from various currency exposures, primarily HARBEITARE D BxE
with respect to Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong ThEET(ETE@ANERE
dollars (“HKD") and United States dollars HINE LB 2R B 8 I FE TS B R SRR
("USD"). Foreign exchange risk arises from R BEREENABUNREE
future commercial transactions, recognised assets FE o ARFIEREYW N TEBAZ
and liabilities and net investments in foreign EEEY P R ERIME B R FE R -
operations. The Company’s management do It ANEE R AR R IR R
not expect the net foreign currency risk from SMNERE - REBRARFEHRAE
these activities to be significant and hence, the ZHEBAREBUNEB REMLNR
Group and the Company do not presently hedge PHEERBEREERKRIN) - A
the foreign exchange risks. The Group and S ESNE R - WA U ERE
the Company periodically review liquid assets B R ERINEE g o

and liabilities held in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective subsidiaries
to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i)  SREREDHT
At 31 December 2015, the Group has minimal RZE—RAF+=-_A=+—H =&
exposure to foreign currency risk with respect SEEETEANINERRER -
to HKD as it is the functional currencies of T RETTASHE AR
the respective subsidiaries in which their B B¥BRS  BEKBEY
business transactions, assets and liabilities are LA TTEHE ©

denominated.

At 31 December 2015, if USD had strengthened/ RZE—RF+_A=+—8 "
weakened by 5% (2014: 5%) against RMB with ENAANREAE BES% (=
all other variables held constant, the Group's T—MF :5%)MABHEMEAZR
profit for the year and total equity would have HREADE - AAREENEE RN
been approximately RMB1,502,000 (2014: RIER BRGNS OARE
RMB606,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result 1,502,000 T(=Z—MU4F : ARME
of foreign exchange gains/losses on USD- 606,0007T) * HEZHEMKUET
denominated monetary assets and monetary ATEMNEYEEREEAERNINE
liabilities. Wz, BHRATER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

(i)

(i)

Exposure to interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rate relates primarily to its bank
deposits and interest-bearing bank borrowings
and bank overdrafts. Interest-bearing bank
borrowings and bank overdrafts at floating rates
expose the Group to interest rate risk.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2015, if interest rates at the
date had been 100 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group's
profit for the year would decrease/increase by
RMB295,000 (2014: RMB378,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure as result
of increase/decrease interest expense on bank
borrowings and bank overdrafts net off with
interest income from bank deposits.

Other price risk

(i)

Exposure to other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment. The Group currently
does not have a hedging policy in respect of the
risk exposure. In addition, the management of
the Group would monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EWMIAE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BEEREREEBEERBEKE)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 5 R g ()
Other price risk (Continued) BB ()
(i)  Sensitivity analysis iy BREEDW
The sensitivity analysis has been determined based BRESWDEREHRE
on the exposure to price risk of held-for-trading HIREEBEREZBRER
investments at the end of the reporting period. BEx- - MBEEEREZMER
If the prices of the held-for-trading investments EFR/TH®IO% AIEE=Z
had been 10% higher/lower, profit for the —RAF+-A=+—HALFE
year ended 31 December 2015 would increase/ 2RGSO HARE
decrease by approximately RMB33,635,000 (2014: 33,635,000 T(ZE—MF : AR
RMB6,749,000). This is mainly due to the changes #6,749,0007T) - WL EEZHR
in fair value of held-for-trading investments. BIEEEREZ A TEZHATN -
Credit risk 1EEER
The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances, AABREHBIRAKRNE & LIRITHE
trade receivables included in the consolidated % BB S RIENREERERNEE
statements of financial position represents the Group’s NEREERBMNESEERR -

maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group has certain exposure to credit risk as the AEEEmRETEERR BRARR
trade receivables from the five largest customers as R_E—HE+_A=+—HHEKEZ
at 31 December 2015 represented 52% (2014: 53%) SRIBEWE HRIEHTES2% (ZF
of total trade receivables, while 17% (2014: 18%) of —MHF :53%) MEAE-FFPHE
the total trade receivables were due from the largest WEB SHRIBELHERE SHRIBETEIT%
single customer. It has policies in place to ensure that (ZE—MF : 18%) - HEEMHBIHE N
sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit BREEHR AR EEERENETP -
history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited AR RSEH B EERITNBERLER
because the counterparties are international and state- RAT - RS RIRTTESRZ ERAR -

owned banks with good reputation.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit REBWEFBFFEMBERREMEER
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated with its wEEELAECMEEEBZEZER
financial assets. B iR R EE -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.
(b) Financial risk management objectives

eRMIA®E)
(b) MHEBREEEERBEA)

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and

actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has available
unutilised banking facilities of approximately RMBNil
(2014: RMB52,956,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based
on the contractual maturities of the undiscounted
financial liabilities including interest that will accrue to
those liabilities except where the Group are entitled
and intends to repay the liability before its maturity.

Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights within one year after the reporting date.
The maturity analysis for other non-derivative financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. SRIAE
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) FIEEBREEBERBEKRE)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) R (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEE2 R
At 31 December 2015 R=FB-HEF+=A=+—H
Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective or within Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flow amount
mEYS EER AERRE
BRF= HR-F -ENE REAH BEAE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®FR ARETR AR®TR

Non-derivative financial liabilities #{7£4mEa%E

Trade payables [ENE 530 — 12,239 — 12,239 12,239
Accruals and other payables EAERREMENZIE - 10,728 - 10,728 10,728
Bank borrowings RITRH 4.9% 29,953 - 29,953 29,500
52,920 — 52,920 52,467
At 31 December 2014 R-E—-NE+=-F=+—A
Weighted
average On demand Total Total
effective or within Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flow amount
MEF e AERES
ERA% SR —EHF nEEE RReE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTL

Derivative financial liabilities ~ fi44®EE

Forward Contract EHAY 1,000 - 1,000 1,000

Non-derivative financial liabilities T4 ¢BER

Trade payables ERESHE - 22,174 - 22,174 22,174

Accruals and other payables EAERREMENZE - 10,368 — 10,368 10,368

Bank borrowings FATIER 5.8% 31,413 5,320 36,733 34,900

Bank overdrafts FTEX 5.4% 2,908 — 2,908 2,908
67,863 5,320 73,183 71,350
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE M B |RME(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

(i)  the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments)
with standard terms and conditions and traded
on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively;

(i) the fair value of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives;

(i) the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding those described
above) are determined in accordance with
generally pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

Fair value measurements recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to

3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable:

1. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
and financial institution for identical assets or
liabilities;

2. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

3. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EWMIAME
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) EMIBZAFEEE)
(Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position (Continued)
At 31 December 2015

REGE BRI K ERZ A FE

B(#)

R-ZB-HRF+-A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
& B — FAI= HA= &5t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR AR%®TnR AR®Tr AR®Tx
Financial assets ERMEE
Held-for-trading investments ##{EEERE 336,349 — — 336,349
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—mE+=-A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HH— 311 FRI= &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTT AR®TFT ARETT
Financial assets ERMEE
Held for trading investments {H{EB&HHRE 68,486 — — 68,486
Financial liability SREE
Forward currency forward RERE AR K
contracts classified DEATESMTA
as derivative financial R INES i= BR A 49
instrument in the (Htat32)
consolidated statement of
financial position (note 32) — 1,000 — 1,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. SETHAE®
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) EMIBZAFEEE)
(Continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in RESHBNREEXERZ X FE
the consolidated statement of financial B(#E)

position (Continued)

Financial assets/ Fair value  Basis of fair value measurement/valuation

Financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  technique(s) and key input(s)

SREE/CRAR RT5IBBHATE DYESHE ATEFENEE MGESARIEGARE
31/12/15 31/12/14

-RE+ZA=t-B -EEtZA=t-H

1) Held for trading Listed equity securities Listed equity securities  Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market.
Investments RMB336,114,000 RMB68,213,000
BFEERE FHBRAES FHRAES Biml— EEEMGHENENE -
ARE336,114,000 ARH68,213,0007
Unlisted investment  Unlisted investment Quoted price from financial institution
RMB235,000 RMB273,000
FLETRE EETRE EeREE L RE
AR# 235,000 T AR% 273,000
2) Foreign currency forward  — Liabilities Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
contracts classified as RMB1,000,000 estimated based on forward exchange rates
derivative financial assets (from observable forward exchange rates
and liabilities in the at the end of the reporting period) and
consolidated statement of contracted forward rates, discounted at a
financial position rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
PGB BHRES B — B Fhl= HRRENE - ARBERENREEENER(B
ATEeREERAR AR 1,000,0007T BEBRNABZR AT RGN ) RENERH
MINEREIA Y BfEst WERRBSERSH 2 EERRZH
KEH o
There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in RAEEERN BB —ERB— 2%
both years. MR o
The directors of the Company consider that the RNABEERE  S6UBHRARE
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial HE A ENMBEEROERYEE
liabilities carried at amortised cost in the consolidated EEREEERS -

financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

7.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from 2014.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes bank borrowings and bank overdrafts) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital and reserves. The directors of the Company review
the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issuance of new shares as well as the
addition of new borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was as
follows:

Debt &%
Total equity AR

Gearing ratio

NS S

EXERER

AEBERHEER  URASEANSERLL
WFBELE  ARTEBB(LEREES T
& RRRFRESE®R - 8 T —MFE
RE B ERERASRIT TE -

AEEZEARBERBRFRR(BERITERR
RITEXDURARREEARGER(BEE
BOTEARRER) - ARAEFTHRTER
RE - ERMAT— 8D  EFERERNRAR
BAREERR AEEHREEEZEALEBR
BATH IR R FIE AR - FEHEBENEE -

BEXE/EHR
R-E-—RER-—ZE-NE+—A=+—0H
ERBEHLENT

2015 2014
—E-8F —T—-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREFT
29,500 37,808
561,889 333,120
5.3% 11.3%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE M B |RME(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.

Information reported to the Directors being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on the types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as
follows:

(i)  the manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric products
used in automotive interior decoration parts and other
parts; and

(i) the supply and procurement operation segment
including trading of rubber and garment accessories.

Segment revenue and results

Supply and
procurement
operation
HERRELE

2015 2014
-1 ZE-Qmf
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRE  AR¥TE

D EHER
MEE (A BEEREE) 2BASBERK
TEDBRAMER  FEMTEERRIEH
FRTRORER) -

REBNEERATE2RDEHWT ¢

() BERBEERRAENHEREMED
WESMER: Kk

(i HERKBLENH (BEREERBRK

KEAF)

N

P L QNS E

Manufacture and
sale of nonwoven

fabric products Total
HERHERSTER CHI
2015 2014 2015 2014

—E-Rf —T-RF —E-If —Z-|mF
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE  ARETRT  ARETR  ARET:

Segment revenue: AHBBA

Sales to external customers HETHERP 35,768 187,489 160,036 169,762 195,804 357,251
Segment results NEEE 3,520 1,650 11,118 24,997 14,638 26,647
Unallocated corporate income — RAEBAFUA 183,179 8,709
Unallocated corporate expenses  KAE AR (28,036) (3,138)
Profit from operations R 169,781 32,218
Finance costs BEKK (1,775) (2,708)
Profit before tax B AR 168,006 29,510

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies. Segment results
represent the profit from each segment without allocation of
interest income, gain on held-for-trading investments, gain
on disposal of subsidiaries, impairment loss recognised in
goodwill and central operating expenses including staff costs,
finance costs and income tax expense. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision marker for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
Segment assets and liabilities
Supply and
procurement
operation
HERFRLZ
2015 2014
-%-1% C—Z-[OF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AEBTT
ASSETS E
Segment assets DEEE 55,846 88,340
Unallocated corporate assets RARAFEE
Total assets BEGE
LIABILITIES af
Segment liabilities k=N 1,746 18,236
Unallocated corporate liabilities k9 EAREE

Total liabilities BELEE

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segment other
than corporate financial assets including held-
for-trading investments and corporate cash and
bank balance. Goodwill is allocated to supply and
procurement segments as described in Note 23.

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than corporate financial liabilities including derivative
financial liability, deferred tax liabilities and accruals
and other payables.

7 RBE R ()

DR R K& (E)
REDBNETHREARE ST BORMER -
DEEGEENALEDENEWA - FHEEER
B e - HEMBLARZ W - REEmR
ZREBBRRFRITRER(BHEEIRA
BEKARAEHAS)NERT &2 3 H5E
Fe BTIAEBEERRESHBADEER K
AHEDBRENEERE -

THEERER

Manufacture and
sale of nonwoven

fabric products Total
HERBERGHER I
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-1E “E-E —E-T1% —Z-ME
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETR ARETR AR®TR AREFT
256,061 213,105 311,907 301,445
341,282 106,290
653,189 407,735
52,355 54,467 54,101 72,703
37,199 1,912
91,300 74,615

RERDHBRRERDHEDEER

— KBRAREREE(BEFEFERRERA
BIRE RIRITHER)IN  FIAEEBNE
ZA2W|H AL o MAAMFE 23 il - B
TIDBCE R RIRE DA -

— KRorsRARRETLESRARE &
ERIBREARETERREMEMNK
BN MBERBEHNEEN2HDE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —FT—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. oHERGE)
Other segment information Hibn H&ER

AT BAREEREAMD BBER DT -

The following is the analysis of the Group’s other segment

information:
Supply and Manufacture and
procurement sale of nonwoven
operation fabric products Total
HERRBLE HERHERHHER At
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
“§-1f -F-RFf -B-IF  ZT-RF ZB-EF ZTQF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR  ARETT  ARBTR  ARBTT  AR¥TR  ARETR
Capital expenditure AARX - - 8,528 8,710 8,528 8,710
Depreciation of property, nE BERRENE
plant and equipment 1 1 4,996 4,347 4,997 4,348
Depreciation of investment REMENE
properties - 134 - — - 134
Amortisation of prepaid land Bt AEFIERSE
lease payments - — 73 73 73 73
Inventories written off e - — 200 39 200 39
Impairment loss recognised TEWE 5B MR
on trade receivables HEBE - 34 43 27 43 61
Impairment loss recognised HEEEINAESR
on goodwill 16,239 — - — 16,239 —
Revenue from major products and services REFTEERREREHERA

Information about the Group’s major products is set out in
Note 9.

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in the PRC and Hong

BRAXAEETIZERNERENME -

AEEWSEBHRUNPEREE -

Kong.

AT ASEEREINEE P WRARB R
@B D EERBEERNER

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets by geographical
location are detailed below.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

RENBEFHWA FREBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-RF —T—NF ZZEB-HF —T—MOF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®TRT ARETE
The PRC ==l 175,823 321,501 51,856 54,530
Hong Kong =8 17,778 30,065 8 4,440
Overseas (Note) BN ) 2,203 5,685 — —
195,804 357,251 51,864 58,970

Note: The Group’s overseas customers including but not limited to
customers in Bangladesh and Taiwan.

Wi AEEZBHREBIFETRRE MR &8k
BF -

* Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and goodwill. *

FRBEETBEEERAEERBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue generated
from one (2014: one) customer of the Group amounting to
approximately RMB53,106,000 (2014: RMB41,264,000) has
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s total
revenue. No other single customer contributed 10% or more
to the Group’s revenue for both years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014.

Revenue from major customer, amounted to 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue, is set out below:

Customer A ZEA

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue represents sales of nonwoven fabric
products used in automotive interior decoration parts and
other parts, rubber and garment accessories.

DEE R E)

EHFEEFNEHR

HE - ZT—RAF+_A=+—HItEE A
AEB-—ZEP(ZE—WF: —R)EEN
WAL ARRES3,106,000 T (ZF—MM4F : A
R ¥ 41,264,000 70 ) 8 B 15 A £ B @I A BB
10%  HE_ZT—RAFR_FT—NF+_A
=t+—BIEMEFE  BEEME-FFER
EEMURA10% A E o

TEFPOBAMEAREE AT 10% KA
E)EFIIT

2015 2014
—E-REF —E—FE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
53,106 41,264

A
REEWAERRTE R RE AR D & &
MMER  BBRAKEMHNHEE -

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WARDITIAT
2015 2014
—2-AfF —ZT-lmEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR¥TT

Nonwoven fabric for use in automobiles AR ARERESN

— Sales of automotive floor carpets — REMHAHE 96,529 95,223
— Sales of other automotive parts — Hi ) RBERFRHEE 63,507 74,539
Sales of rubber BRBREE 22,057 153,535
Sales of garment accessories ARKB RS E 13,711 33,954
195,804 357,251

“E-RFFR

FENEAGEEERA R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE=—FT—aF 1t =-H=1+—HILFE
10. OTHER INCOME 10. EMA
2015 2014
—E-HF —T-MEF
RMB’'000 RMB"000
AR®TR ARBEF T

Interest income F B U A 738 92

Technical support income ST IS-37- LI ON — 1,664

Consultancy fee income FIE- S ON 423 951

Gain on held-for-trading investments and HIEEERERITESMIA

derivatives financial instrument Z Wz 178,732 8,494

Rental income Ha A 16 166

Others A, 3,797 497

183,706 11,864
11. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 11. BERF

The Group's profit from operations is stated after charging REFMKLHNDNG THEE

the following:

2015 2014
—E-AF —T-mEF
RMB’'000 RMB"000
AR®TR ARBEF T

Auditors’ remuneration ZEENEN & 964 955

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TEAT i T E SR IR 8 73 73

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - fiE KR EITE 4,997 4,348

Depreciation of investment properties WEYENE — 134

Operating lease rentals in respect of rented FANEYENKEHEER

premises 956 996

Staff costs including directors’ remuneration: BIXAN(BIEESHE) -

— Salaries and other benefits — e REAER 11,228 12,428
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions — RIREFFT B R 2,760 3,595
Cost of inventories recognised as cost of sales R A EKANEFS KA 142,856 296,007

Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME - WERREEE

equipment 24 1
Inventories written off FEMH 200 39
Impairment loss recognised on trade HEWE 5 IEERA

receivables REEE 43 61
Impairment loss recognised on amount due BRI N R RERER A

from an associate (Note 1) M{EES?E(/W&U 3,169 —
Impairment loss recognised on goodwill DA ERRAREEE

(Note 1) (H1zE 1) 16,239 —

Research and development expenditure ek (A t2)

(Note 2) 7,232 8,977

Note: et -

1. Impairment loss recognised on amount due from an associate and 1. BN N B IE R BRI EEE A
goodwill included in administrative expenses for the year ended 31 HE-_T—AFT_A=+—RHLEFEMNTR
December 2015 were amounted to approximately RMB3,169,000 X - @EIRIHARE3,169,0007T kAR
and RMB16,239,000 respectively (2014: Nil and nil respectively). 16,239,000 L(=ZZ—WF : HRIAZTRE) -

2. The amounts included in cost of sales for the year ended 31 2. HE-Z-—RAF+T_A=+T—HILEFEAARR
December 2015 amounted to approximately RMB7,232,000 (2014: %ﬁ%ﬁk&haﬁf%ﬁﬁoﬁ/\EM7 232,000 (=%
RMB8,977,000). —Mm& : AR¥ES,977,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. MERAK
2015 2014
—E—FEF —E—NF
RMB’'000 RMB"000

ARBTT AR¥ETT

Interest expenses on bank borrowings wholly ~ BRAFREEBTEN

repayable within five years IRITIEREF BB 1,705 2,066
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts RITHELZ WA EE A 70 136
Interest expenses on promissory note ANZENFEER — 506

1,775 2,708
13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FIBHIAX
2015 2014
—ZT-EfF —ZT—mF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARETT

Current tax BN HA B 18
Hong Kong BB 384 1,397
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") FEMEMEH
([FECEMREHR]) 1,459 2,276
1,843 3,673
Overprovision for in previous years BEFEBERE
PRC EIT P EFTISH (1,040) (43)
Deferred tax ELEBE
Current year KEEZE 35,226 —
36,029 3,630
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands BERSHEMEBER RS ([ REBLERR
and British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to BHEDRAMRER  AEBRHASESREB
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI. BRI S B RBMNERIMEH -
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the BE " T—AFK_ZT—NF+_A=+—H
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 December IEEE - BANERZRMGERTHEF 16.5%
2015 and 2014. HE
PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable rates based on PRI ERAEHBERTEN - REXEERA
estimated taxable income earned by the PRC subsidiary of B IREASETFHRBERNAE BN B K
the Group with certain tax preference, based on existing B AR FTBEUG T ERTR WA - LAUE BT Rt
legislation, interpretation and practice in respect thereof. Bo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. IBHEAXE)

Pursuant to the enterprise income tax rules and regulations
of the PRC, the applicable PRC EIT rate of the Group’s PRC
subsidiary is 25%.

Pursuant to PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, an innovative
and high-end technology enterprise may enjoy a preferential
enterprise income tax rate of 15% (“IHT Enterprise Rate”).
On 6 July 2015, Joystar Wuxi obtained the Certificate of
Innovative and High-end Technology Enterprise with validity
period of three year and also enjoyed the IHT Enterprise
Rate. Consequently, the applicable income tax rate of Joystar
Wuxi for the year ended 31 December 2015 is 15% (2014:
15%).

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
profit before tax multiplied by the PRC enterprise income tax
rate is as follows:

RIBHBEBEASHAROIFOER - AEEHH
BB ARMERPRECEMSHER25%

BEPBECEMEREL SRt ETEE
CEMEBHREERERI5% ([SFEMEER
&) KE(EH)EN -_ZE—AE+ANER
BEIHA=FZaBNtERFRE  WEE
BRI ERE - Bt - 2 (EH)REE
ZE-RF+Z A=+ RALFEZHEBMSE
HREE15% (ZZF—F : 15%) °

71 458 2 B BT 5 R DA o B b T A
MK EFGHNHEMT

2015 2014

—B-AfF —E-mEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARBF T

Profit before tax B B B a 168,006 29,510
Tax at the PRC enterprise income tax rate of BRPBEPEMRGNHE25%

25% (2014: 25%) SFE(ZZF—UF : 25%) 42,001 7,377
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses and PAIHBR XM B E Y

temporary differences FrER 13,195 2,005

Tax effect of income that are not taxable BERRBWANREZE (1,190) (2,966)

Over provision in previous years WA FE RS (1,040) (43)

Tax effect of tax preferential period MIBEEHNT ST E (973) (1,273)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MEBARTRMENTE (15,964) (1,470)

Income tax expense FTiSHi 6 36,029 3,630

Under the New Tax Law, from 1 January 2008, non-resident
enterprises without an establishment or place of business in
the PRC or which have an establishment or place of business
in the PRC but whose relevant income is not effectively
connected with the establishment or a place of business in
the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax at the rate of
10% (unless reduced by treaty) on various types of passive
income such as dividends derived from sources within the
PRC.

REFHE A—TENF—A B - X3k
FERBER AT ERBEE R KETE
FRAZ S AER BB AC LB - IEE I ER
EWFEEBBERIRETEREEE AR
ZHEREE  BARSZERBEA(RR
B2 B BODIETE 10% (B SR IGADR % ) #
BESECH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE
13.

14.

—E—AFT A=t —HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

According to the notice Caishui 2008 No. 1 released by the
Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation,
distributions of the pre-2008 retained profits of a foreign-
invested enterprise to a foreign investor in 2008 or after
are exempt from corporate income tax. Accordingly, the
retained profits as at 31 December 2007 in the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries will not be subject to 10% withholding tax on
future distributions.

According to the EIT law, starting from 1 January 2008,
10% withholding income tax will be imposed on dividend
relating to profits earned by the companies established
in the PRC in the calendar year 2008 onwards to their
foreign shareholders. For investors incorporated in Hong
Kong which hold at least 25% of equity interest of those
PRC companies, a preferential rate of 5% will be applied.
The Group has applied the preferential rate of 5% as the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are directly held by an
investment holding company incorporated in Hong Kong.
At 31 December 2015, no deferred tax has been provided
for in respect of the temporary differences attributable to
such profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB91,202,000 (2014: RMB93,025,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB131,977,000 (2014: RMB25,880,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,506,626,630 (2014:
1,213,229,589) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, diluted
earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per
share as the Company did not have any dilutive potential
ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2015
and 2014.

13.

14.

FRr&BimM% (&)

R385 B BUER K B R B B % 2 B B 2008 88
TSRBA - IERECER T N\FR 2%
BINEREE DR - N\FAIZRBHEF
HAER RN EET - Bt - RIBRIE
HARE - AEBZFABEWNBRARIRZZEE
+tE+Z A=+ B Z2REEF G B EHMR
10% 2 T8 H -

RIBLEMBHE BT NFE—A—H
B SEBEFRKINARIEZEENFE
B R /9 0 B 2 A EIB AN IR B A IR B R
10% KBTS R - R ERBTMEK B
BEZSEFPERAIZL25% RENRESE
K EM5% HEENE o ARAEEFENE
AR H-—BESBEMRZNEEERA
AEERE BMASEES%NEBRREHY
MBE - WZFT—RAF+_A=+—HB &
NEIW AP EHE AR RINAZSEEFN
AR #91,202,000t(ZE—MF : ARKE
93,025,000 JT ) # B2 B 2 B8 M 1 1 35 E 7 T8 4%
B EAASBEEUERRIFEEZRER R
A MERRF =R AT T2 R a] &5 kB E -

BREF

BREXREF
RARBEBABGEERERRFHELET
REARAREEABEFEZEMNHAR
#131,977,000c(Z T — M F: AR ¥
25,880,0007C) R F AL FHITH B 2 M
¥ 51,506,626,630 (% ( — T — P4 ¢
1,213,229,589 ) EBH -

SREERR
HRAARRIRBE-_ZT—RAFER-_T—NF
T AT HULEFEIETCAEITETLH
BB E—_E—AFEk-_T—NF+=-A
=+—HIFE  SREEBAINEAGRERRZ
FIFER -

—E-HEFH

FENEAGEEERAT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE M B |RME(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

15. DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required
by section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), Companies (disclosure of Information about

AND

Z )% 38315 -

15. £ BESTBRAEBRESHM

Bz MmkiEs(REFEQTRDI(F622
RE(HBEEENmER)RP
(£622GE ) REALMRAZRERE) W

Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK Listing T
Rules:
Salaries and Retirement benefit
Fees allowances scheme contributions Total
e FeREE BINERIFT BT &t
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
ZB-1f ZZ-MF ZB-Ef _—Z-MF ZB-Af _Z-QMF ZB-1f _Z-MF
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT AR%ETR ARETT ARETR ARETT AR%TR ARET:R
Name of director ESps
Executive directors HiTEE
Zhuang Yuejin (Note (a) B3 (Hi (a)) 362 356 — 145 — 46 362 547
Pak Ping ("Mr. Pak") AT(A%E])
(resigned on (R=F—mfF
9 October 2014) TANREE) - - - 166 - 7 - 173
Wong Ho Yin (Note (b)) EERWE D) - 40 1,213 285 14 13 1,221 338
Xiao Suni (appointed on HER(R-Z—1F
14 October 2014) TATRARZM) 9 20 - - - - 9% 20
Independent non-executive BV F#EH7TEE
directors
Feng Xueben (resigned on ~ BEA(R-Z-FERX
5 June 2015) ARHEHT) 21 48 — — - — 21 48
Mak Wai Ho EER 9% 9% - - - - 9 9%
Sung Kwan Wun (appointed RE&(R-Z—-M%E
on 19 August 2014) NATHBEZE) 48 48 - - - - 48 48
Ng Li La Adeline (appointed  ZFF(R-Z—REA
on 4 September 2015) AEUBEZM) 25 - - - - - 25 —
648 608 1,213 596 14 66 1,875 1,270
Note: Hret -
(a) Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (a) RN LT AR QRN EERITHAH -
of the Company.
(b) Mr. Wong Ho Yin is also the Chief Financial Officer of the (b) EIERNETNARN RGN ISLRE -

Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors and
chief executive as a discretionary bonus or an inducement to
join or upon joining the group or as compensation for loss
of office. There was no arrangement under which a Director
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The emoluments of senior management (excluding directors)
fell within the following band:

15. EE - RETHRABREEFHFM &)

HE-_Z-—AFER-_ZF-—HWF+_-_A=1+—8©
IFEE  AEEBERNEERERTTHRAEY
NS ERBIBIEA SRS MASMAREER
R RIS ERBIEE  c REE-T—hF
E_ZE—-—NE+-A=1+—HItEE HEE
EWNEXRBRET MM SHOZEHE

BREEE(TERESR)NMEN FUTHE
W .

Number of individuals

AE
2015 2014
—®-FEF  —F-NF
Nil to RMB798,000 (equivalent to approximately ZZ& A R# 798,000 7T
HK$1,000,000) (%5249 1,000,000 % 7T ) 3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 16. T EEEMEES

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year NREEBARFENRNSSHHMATBERE
included 2 (2014: 2) directors, details of whose remuneration (ZZE—UF - MEB)ESE - MeFBEyInE
set out in Note 15 above. The emoluments of the remaining ME1S c BT =ZERFHAT(ZZ—N

3 (2014: 3) individuals are set out below: F o =ZZ)MFES 0T
2015 2014
—E-RF —ZF—mEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT ARETT

Basic salaries and allowances BEARF & ROERL 394 623
Retirement benefits scheme contributions SRR IR B ALK 127 25
521 648
The emoluments fell within the following band: e N TEUTHER :
Number of individuals
AE
2015 2014
—E-EHF —FT-ImF
Nil to RMB798,000 (equivalent to approximately ZZ&E A R# 798,000 7T
HK$1,000,000) (FE%7491,000,000 % 7T) 3 3
During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no BHE-_Z-—hEER-_ZT—NFE+-_A=+—H
remuneration was paid by the Group to the non-executive IFEER AEEBMERIIEHNITESE 555
director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join MEE NS - (EAREMAREBRLIMNA
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of REFZWER  SUEAHEBEE HE_Z
office. None of the non-executive director and highest paid —hERZZE-NE+_A=+—HIEFE
employees waived or agreed to waive any emoluments A BEIERTEERS M EENERR
during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014. EHEEMANE o
17. DIVIDEND 17. B2
The directors do not recommend the payments of any EETEINEBEE—_E—FRE+-_A=+—8H
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 WP FEEIRMEARE (= —PO4FE : ) o
(2014: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. M¥ - MEKRE

Furniture
Plant and Motor and Leasehold  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery vehicles fixtures improvement in progress Total
BF  RERER RE  BRREE AENEEE HBIE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETLE  AREBTT  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
Cost A
At 1 January 2014 WZZ-mE-F-H 14,609 47,168 233 1,115 2442 1214 68,883
Additions HE - 2872 - 16 233 5,589 8,710
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - - - - - - -
Transfer from construction in EROEETR
progress - 6,803 - - - (6,803) -
Disposals HE - - - (15) - - (15)
Transfer to investment properties ~ EEZRENE (4,542) - - - - - (4,542)
Exchange alignment EiA% - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2014 and RZE-BETZA=1-H
1 January 2015 R=EF-1%-A-H 10,067 56,843 2,335 1,116 2,675 - 73,036
Additions NE - 8,396 - 33 9 - 8,528
Disposals 5 - (63) - (115) - - (178)
Exchange alignment EH AR - - - 2 - - 2
At 31 December 2015 RZZF-RFTZA=T-8 10,067 65,176 2335 1,036 2774 - 81,388
Accumulated depreciation and ~ EHHTEREE
impairment
At 1 January 2014 AZS-MmE-A-H 2,861 16,287 1,301 805 1,786 - 23,040
Charge for the year FE 310 3,690 181 97 70 - 4348
Disposals HE - - - (13) - - (13)
At 31 December 2014 and RIE-METZA=1-H
1 January 2015 R=%-1%-A-H 317 19,977 1,482 889 1,856 - 21375
Charge for the year EEu 309 4,340 181 9% 71 - 4,997
Disposals 5 - (48) - (104) - - (152)
Exchange alignment L - - - 2 - - 2
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RFTZA=1-8 3,480 24,269 1,663 883 1927 - WY
Net book value BEFE
At 31 December 2015 R-E-RE+ZA=1-A 6,587 40,907 672 153 847 - 49,166
At 31 December 2014 RZF-ME+ZA=1-8 6,89 36,866 853 207 819 - 45,661

At 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of buildings
of the Group pledged as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB6,587,000

(2014: RMB6,896,000).

WZE—AFE+-A=+—0 AEEGHE
HEELH A AREE6,587,000C(—F—4F :
AR 6,896,000 0 ) IEFIEAHIBITHER
FOIE IR G o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWE
RMB'000
ARBF T
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2014 RZE—WMFE—HA—H —
Transfer from property, plant and B aME - WENMEE AL 18)
equipment (Note 18) 4,542
Exchange alignment ME 5, 8 2 16
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 WR_-Z—NFE+_-_A=+—HIE_-_Z—HF—F—H 4,558
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR (4,929)
Exchange alignment [ A 371
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—RF+=-A=+—H —
Accumulated depreciation AT E
At 1 January 2014 RZE—OF—HA—H —
Charge for the year FETH 134
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—HEK-_Z—AF—HF—H 134
Charge for the year FELZH —
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (134)
As 31 December 2015 R-_ZE—RF+_-_A=+—H —
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2015 R=ZF—AF+=A=+—H —
At 31 December 2014 R-E-—NFE+-HA=+—H 4,424
Fair Value ATE
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-HAF+=ZA=+—H —
At 31 December 2014 RZE-—MFE+=—A=+—H 4,748
The Group’s properties held to earn rental purposes were REBRFERDESNMERARETE -
measured using the cost model and were classified and RIEEWMEDELFR -
accounted for as investment properties.
At 31 December 2015, no investment properties was RZZE—RAF+ZA=1+—0 " BIEKEY
pledged as security for the Group bank borrowings (2014: EDEREAAERBRITEFHERR(ZE
RMB4,424,000). —PH4F : AR#¥4,424,0007T) ©
The details of the Group’s total future minimum lease REE DA BUEHL & HERTY R R R
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases are stated TS AN MIEE40 ©
in Note 40.
The investment properties are situated on land in Hong Kong FEMEMRERARLMEHES T

held under long term leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE
19.

20.

—E—AFT A=t —HIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

For the year 2014, the fair value of investment properties is
based on valuation reports carried out at the end of each
reporting period by an independent property valuer (the
“Valuer”). The Valuer has appropriate qualification and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in
the relevant locations. The fair value was determined based
on capitalization of net income method, where the market
rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed by
reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units as well
as other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood.
The capitalization rate adopted is made by reference
to the yield rates of 4.25% observed by the valuers for
similar properties in the locality and adjusted based in the
valuers’ knowledge of the factors specific to the respective
properties. The investment properties were classified as Level
2 under the fair value hierarchy.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Current assets mENE E
Non-current assets EmEEE
Analysed for reporting purposes as:

At the beginning of the year REH)
Amortisation for the year FEHH
At the end of the year REKE

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payment
for land use rights outside Hong Kong under medium term
leases.

At 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of prepaid land
lease payments pledged as security for the Group's bank
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB2,771,000
(2014: RMB2,844,000).

19. REWHE(#)

R-F-—NEFE - RENENQFEREE
S ERD (A ERD ) 7% 3R & B R A Am
MEERS - HEMEERAEER LHSY
RN Z ERUMRETREHE - 2 FET
RIBEARBREBLUDEATRARZER TS
BEEE - ATEDREFSEANFERTEAR
EE - MAARHEELNTEHEE2ENE
ATHEEMS 2 B A LT RUMEN i
HIERIERFE - FTERANERELLRTI2EL
f (A (B R ER B R L) S R 2 % 4.25%
WARE A BN EH B ER RN FMBALTT
R REMEDBERRATEZRE_R -

20. AL HEERE

2015 2014
—E-—RE —E—F
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARETR AREET T
73 73
2,698 2,771
2,771 2,844
MBEME 2D
2015 2014
—ZE-EF —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARETT
2,844 2,917
(73) (73)
2,771 2,844

AEENTFEN L EEKRIAES BE T HED
TEBBIAIMb R H) L 18 AR A RIA -

R-_ZE—HFE+_A=1+—8 KEELHE
mELHEARE2,771,000 (= —MUF :
AR 2,844,000 7T ) BN -0 & FRIE1E
BERITEROER® o

“B-HFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE-F—AF+-A=1—FULFE
21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2015 were as follows:

21. B ATNFEAER
R-E—RE+=-A=+—0  SELLFM
BARIMEEHINMT

Nominal value of
issued and fully

paid ordinary

Place of shares/Issued
incorporation/ and paid up/ Percentage of
registration registered equity attributable

Name of Company and operation capital  to the Company  Principal activities
BERITRBE
BBR2EE
Bl aed BRITRAR NN
DRER BEREELY R A EiEERESL TEER
Direct Indirect
HiE 4
Joystar (BVI) Automotive British Virgin Islands UsD1 100% — Investment holding
Interior Decoration Limited ("BVI")
XBEARHS 1E7 AR
([RBERRES])
Joystar (BVI) Auto Inter-parts BVI uUsD1 100% — Investment holding
Limited AEHRREHE 1T REER
Joystar International Investment Hong Kong HK$1,170,177 — 100% Trading of nonwoven
Limited fabric products used
HEERKRERRAA O 1,170,177 47T in automotive interior
decoration parts and
other parts
ERARAEAHHE
HAb#f5 B) B0 E
Joystar China Investment Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Trading of rubber
Limited
REFERERRAR o 187 BEEBRRE
Joystar Wuxi PRC UsbD7,477,172 — 100% Manufacturing of
6E(EH) HE 74771727 nonwoven fabric
products used in
automotive interior
decoration parts and
other parts
REFR TS N R
B # 5 B G E M
Link Excellent Limited BVI UsD50,000 100% — Investment holding
RBERRES 50,000 7T REER
Sinogate Energy Limited BVI UsD1 — 100% Investment holding
B RE R AT HBEBRES 1% REER
Splendid Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Trading of rubber
imER AT N 18T EEBKE
PRE S (L8)BRAR PRC USD600,000 — 100% Trading of rubber
[ 600,000 % 7T BERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 21. B ARMNFHAER (&)

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which
in the opinion of directors, principally attached the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in to opinion of directors, result in particulars of
excessive lengths.

ERFNEERREAEENEELEERK
BEAFENAKEMNBERR - EFRRMIE
HitfBRANFBEESERBRITE -

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 22. AEEE DN RER
2015 2014
—ZE-EF —E—mF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Cost of investment in an associate RN B IR E AR
— Unlisted — 3Em 10,206 10,206
Share of post-acquisition loss and other IR B R A2
comprehensive income, net of dividends AENBRBEWERARE)
received
— Unlisted — LT (10,206) (4,092)
— 6,114
At 31 December 2015, the Group had interest in the RZZE—RAF+_A=+—8  XEER T

following associate:

Place of
incorporation/

BEnmHEER

Proportion of
ownership interest

registration and Issued and and voting power
Name of Company operation paid up capital held by the Group  Principal activity
MY BRER BRTK rEEREN
NEER EEBE BRRAK FERRRRELS TEXH
2015 2014
—E-1F ZTNF
BN =B LBER AR PRC UsD4,100,000 (2014: 40% 40% Manufacturing of
FE USD4,100,000) polyester fibers
4,100,000 % 7T SUER BRI
(ZF—m%F:

4,100,000 7T)

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

Interest in an associate is classified into the Group's
reportable segment of manufacture and sale of nonwoven
fabric products.

Summarised financial information in respect of the associate
is set out below.

BaRNmNERERERNZEEE M BERET

i
MBS A T BT B B A 5
SRS R T 2 5 -

AT S RABNMBERNBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE M B |RME(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 22.

Current assets RBEE
Non-current assets SERBEE
Current liabilities RBBEE
Non-current liabilities ey e UN=R
Revenue WA

Loss for the year FEBE

Other comprehensive loss for the year FEHEMEEEBE
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXAEGELR

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as

RE&E QTN ER2)

2015 2014
—ZE-8F —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
10,784 12,739
23,387 23,545
(37,010) (20,999)
2015 2014
—ZE-HF —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
55,009 19,436
18,124 6,804
18,124 6,804

IR S E R R AR A M A IR AR B

/N

AEWERREENSRNT

follows:
2015 2014
—E-HF —ET-ME
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
(Net liabilities)/net assets of the associate B N REA ATERE AR
attributable to owners of the associate W(BEFHE), EEFH (2,839) 15,285
Proportion of the Group's REBEREE QAR
ownership interest in the associate 78 #e tL A 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the ZAREBEREE R FH
associate EmREE — 6,114

As at 31 December 2015, the accumulated share of post-
acquisition loss and other comprehensive loss, net of
dividends received, that is not yet shared to the Group is
RMB1,136,000 (2014: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

23. GOODWILL

Cost:

At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014
and 1 January 2015

Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries

Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2015

Accumulated impairment losses:

At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014
and 1 January 2015

Impairment loss

Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2015

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2015

At 31 December 2014

23. HE
RMB'000
ARETTT
|5 %: N
R-ZT—MmMFE—F—H8 - —_FT—NWF+-_A=+—8 "
—E—hF—HA—H 51,099
BB A AR 8 (29,252)
PE % 1,276
R-ZE—RAF+=-_A=+—H 23,123
EiHREERE
RZE—WMF—A—H ZE—NF+=-A=+—8H
k—ZF—h¥—H—H —
RIEEE 16,239
PE 5 % (402)
R-ZE—RAF+=-A=+—8H 15,837
BREME :
R-ZE-HAF+=-A=+—8 7,286
R-_ZE—NF+_-_A=+—H 51,099

Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating

units

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes
to the cash-generating units of trading of rubber business
by Sinogate Energy Limited and its subsidiaries (”Sinogate

Energy Group”),

which is classified into the Group's

reportable segment of supply and procurement operation.

Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount
of goodwill was allocated to the cash-generating units as

follows:

Sinogate Energy Group
Brilliant Summit

iR EE
I

TREERERSELEM

RETREND  AECESEETHERA
RATREMBAR([FEERERDNEER
BEEXBNREELENL - DOBREAKEN

HERRBLKEAT2HRDE -

ERBEEERN  BENREERIKERS

ELEN - BRINT
2015 2014
—E-AF —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETT
21,847 21,847
— 29,252
21,847 51,099
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE-F-—art-A=+—ALFE

23.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating
units (Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2014, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units
has been determined based on a value in use calculations
which use cash flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by the directors and valued by the professional
valuer covering a five year period, and discount rate of
21.75% (2014: 18.68%) per annum. Cash flows beyond
that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
3.00% (2014: 3.00%) growth rate. This growth rate does
not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the
market.

Impairment loss of approximately RMB16,239,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2015 as the
business of trading of rubber products does not turnout as
previously expected, due to decrease in demand of rubber
product as a result of the more stringent and competitive
environment of the industry.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are
as follows:

Budgeted market share Average market share in the

period immediately before

23. BE &)

TREERERSELBM(E)

HE-_T-AEt+-_A=+—AR-_ZT—NF
FTZA=T—HILFE BeELEMHAY
EleEHREEREETEMETE © JHEA
REEMMEREEGEMAMEERERSF
RN BEEEAEEELNR S REEA
EBBRERAESFE21.75% (2 —H4F
18.68%) - AF iz RERENFEABTE
#EER3I00% (ZFE—VI4F :3.00%)HEH -
BERWEBATS FHRAKREE -

HE-_Z-—AF+-_A=1+—HIFE O
REANEH 16,239,000 T2 HERE  RE
TENRBSEERERBRFH  SBRBE
mBER T BREERREREBEERD
FERIFTTEER -

EREEFEMRBZEIZRRAOT

BEMSHE ZEEBREHAMZHARNTHD
BB ERARZERRLZ

the budget period. The value BERMBTLR
assigned to the assumption
reflect post experience
Budgeted gross margin Average gross margins achieved BHEERMN=X EEBEHAI CHATHEE
in the period immediately before Fl= - REBTER
the budget period which reflects
the past experience
24. INVENTORIES 24. 78
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZE—OF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARBFT
Raw materials B4k 7,389 6,700
Work in progress TR 804 1,441
Finished goods BIRK T 7,470 7,755
15,663 15,896

~ Annual Report 2015

- China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. EWE S A

Trade receivables EUE 5578
Allowance for doubtful debts REREE

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice
date, and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

0 to 90 days 0&290H

91 to 180 days 91&180H
181 to 365 days 181 & 365H
Over 365 days Hid365H

The Group's trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally ranging from 30 to 120
days (2014: ranging from 30 days to 120 days), depending
on the creditworthiness of customers and the existing
relationship with the Group. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing.

At 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivables were denominated in RMB, HKD and
USD of approximately RMB77,766,000, RMB2,701,000 and
RMB21,064,000 (2014: RMB68,212,000, RMB14,598,000
and 3,945,000) respectively.

At 31 December 2015, trade receivables of approximately
RMB45,003,000 (2014: RMB21,923,000) were past due
but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—OF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREETTT
102,417 90,511
(886) (3,756)
101,531 86,755

REREEH - FEUR S ROBN D7 (E
I R 0T

2015 2014
—E-HEF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETT
60,845 65,890
13,191 14,507
24,232 4,266
3,263 2,092
101,531 86,755

REBHEFPHNEFKRAETEREE - BER
FEEAFREASENRBHEE  FEH—
BANF30E1208(ZE—WE: N F30F
120 B) o NEBE BN BRE B AR 2 UK
B MRz BB REEETHEN -
EWREZHIBARE -

R-ZTB—RFE+-A=+—8 KNEHEHE
WESHRBZERBEDAARE BT hE
TLEHE - PRI A AR 77,766,000 + A
R 2,701,000 70 & A R# 21,064,000 70( =
T — P4 AR#68,212,0000T - AR
14,598,000 7t &2 A R #& 3,945,000 7T) ©

R-E—RE+-_A=+—08 RBREBEZHE
#AR® 45,003,000 (= —F : AREE
21,923,000 7C) B @ BB REE - ZFHIBP
METEIBEREHENELIRTSE - AEEDE
Wrdl Bt 2 SRS B (M E R m -

—E-hFER

FENEAGEEERA R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—F—AFT_H=+—HIFE

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. BEWE ZRIE#E)
The aging analysis of the trade receivables, which were past ZEDBHRERRERKE S FIENRE ST
due but not impaired, is as follows: /N
2015 2014
—E-EHF —ZT—mE
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTR AR¥ETT

Overdue by: B
1 to 90 days 1290H 35,778 15,500
91 to 180 days 912 180H 5,804 5,541
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 2,859 882
Over 365 days i 365H 562 —
45,003 21,923
During the year ended 31 December 2015, an allowance HE-_ZT—RAF+-_A=+—RHLFE E%
was made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of et eI YOl fE W E 5 A 4 AR ¥ 43,000
approximately RMB43,000 (2014: RMB61,000). The impaired T(ZZE—F: AREG61,0007T) 1E H #
trade receivables related to customers that were in financial B OREBEREKFEAENTRRENTEH
difficulties and management assessed that the receivables B BB GZESENNIETY AT ARG -
were not recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral REERBTERZSESREATMETER -
over these balances.
The aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables which are NEBDRERREZ ZFBEBOERSHTOT -
impaired is presented as follows:
2015 2014
—E-EF —Z—mF
RMB’000 RMB"000

ARBTR ARETT

Overdue by: peng=i
1 — 180 days 1£180H — —
Over 180 days HBim 180 H 886 3,756

886 3,756
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. BWE S FIE#)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts is as follows: RAREHEE -
2015 2014
—B-aF —ZT—mF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETR ARETT
At 1 January W—H—H 3,756 3,695
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries H B N B 8 (2,913) —
Impairment loss recognised on trade HIEWE 5 HIBHERD
receivables REEE 43 61
At 31 December Rt+—_A=+—H 886 3,756
26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 26. Ef#IE & K HMEWFIE
RECEIVABLES
2015 2014
—E-REF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETTT
Trade deposits BoEe 11,405 9,732
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 5,644 2,799
Other receivables (Note) H b e W ERIE (57 35,634 31,083
At 31 December R+—-_A=+—H 52,683 43,614

Note:

Included in the Group’s other receivables as at 31 December 2015 was
an earnest money of approximately RMB16,750,000 to the solicitors in
respect of the possible acquisition announced on 24 August 2015.

Included in the Group’s other receivables as at 31 December 2014 was
an amount due from a director of a subsidiary of the Group who is not a
director of the Company of approximate RMB2,731,000.

Before recognition of impairment losses, the carry amount of amount due
from associate was approximate of RMB3,169,000 (2014: RMB3,336,000).
During the year 2015, the Group recognised the impairment loss on
amount due from associate of approximately RMB3,169,000 due to
the carrying amounts of the investment in associate is reduced to their
recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to the estimation
of future cash flows expected to be generated from the respective
associate.

Bt

AREER—_Z-—HAF+ A=+ AZHEMbEEKRER
BERR T -—RFNAFTHBARH 2 el B EER
BN 2 RESLHARE 16,750,0007T °

AEBR-_ZT-—ME+ A=+ -HZHMBREFTER
FRBARENBEARES(LIFARFES) ZHIAN
ARH2,731,0007C °

BREEEEN  EREEARFENEAENAAR
#3,169,000 T(= T — & : ARK¥3,336,0007T) °
RET—AFER - A %EE R RS QB BRRNE
EBEHARY 3,169,000 TYHRREE QAR 2%
B7EHEE CSEZEMEREBERTEEZRER
EREZMEEE  BERERSZAKEEEE -

“E-AFEFER

FENEAGEEERA R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

27. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 27. HEEERE
Held-for-trading investments include: RIEEERERE
The Group
AEH
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-lEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARETT

Listed securities: FhmES
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong BB EMHRAES 336,114 68,213
Unlisted investment: FEHFERE :
Unlisted investment outside Hong Kong EBEBUIMIERIE ETIRE 235 273
At 31 December Wt+=-—A=+—H 336,349 68,486
Fair values are determined with reference to quoted market NEETIREMBHEBEAB RS REE 2 3R
bid prices and quoted price from financial institution. BMETE -

28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT 28. BEMBITER
At 31 December 2015, the fixed interest rate on RZE—RAF+-_A=+—H8 2EERE
pledged bank deposit of approximately RMBNil (2014: TEROAREBEZ(ZE—NF: AR
RMB6,137,000). The pledged bank deposit was denominated 6,137,0007T) » EIIFRITIERUAEITETHE »
in USD.
At 31 December 2015, deposit with bank of approximately RZE—RAE+ZA=1+—8 " RITEZXHA
RMBNil (2014: RMB6,137,000) has been pledged to secure REZL(ZZE—M4FE - ARM6,137,0007T)
the banking facility of a subsidiary of the Company. During DIREEARAT —HMBARNRITRED
the year ended 31 December 2015, the pledged bank ER - BE2_ZFT—RF+_A=+—HLHF
deposits were released. B BEARRITEREERED o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
in banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash
equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown in
the consolidated statement of cash flows can be reconciled
to the related items in the consolidated statement of
financial position as follows:

29. RERWITHEER
RGAHERERNS W2 MELFEVE
EFBRAS  ROTFARAREERTEF
B mARERERMTIREARNRE KR
THFEMA EREPHRARANEREER
BRIE -

2015 2014

—E—FE —E—NF

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR® TR ARETT

Cash and bank balances B MIRTTA 8 83,345 69,421
Bank overdrafts (Note 36) RITESL (M17F36) — (2,908)
83,345 66,513

At 31 December 2015, cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

Renminbi AR
Hong Kong dollars BT
United States dollars ES

At 31 December 2015, the bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately
RMB18,319,000 (2014: RMB26,982,000) were kept in banks
in the PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

R-ZB—RE+-A=+—08 BERFTE
BRIRA T S EHE -

2015 2014
—ZE-HF —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFIT
18,321 27,018
56,683 40,372
8,341 2,031
83,345 69,421

RZZE—RE+_A=1+—0 KEEUAE
BT EW T RA R EERNRIT ZRITERL
ABARE18,319,000 T(ZZE—F AR
26,982,0007T) ° AR IR INE BB T
B NG B {15 K2 A B - ST R AN SROME B 1R
HIE °

“E-RFFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE M B |RME(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

30. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
At 1 January 2014,

31 December 2014,

1 January 2015 and

31 December 2015

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2014

Issue of consideration shares

At 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015
Issue of share upon placing

At 31 December 2015

Note:

Note
Hist
EE
BREE 0.1 BT EER
W-F-mE-A-H-
—E-mE+-A=+-R"
“E-RF-A-Hk
“E-RF+-A=F-H
BRETRAR
W-F-mE—A-A
BITRERS (a)
R-E-ME+-A=+—-HEK
—Z-RF—-F—H
REE&RETRG (b)

RZE-HF+ZA=1-H

On 17 September 2014, the Company and the placing agent

entered into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing
agent agreed to place, on a best endeavour basis, to not less than
six independent places for up to 230,400,000 new shares at a price
of HK$0.38 per placing share. The placing have been completed on

26 September 2014.

(b)

On 9 July 2015, the Company and the placing agent entered

into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing agent
agreed to place, on a best endeavour basis, to not less than six
independent places for up to 276,480,000 new shares at a price of
HK$0.345 per placing share. The placing have been completed on

21 July 2015.

31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein for the current and prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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30. B
Number
of shares Amount Amount
BHEE kXl kXl
HK$'000 RMB'000
FAL ARETFL
10,000,000,000 1,000,000 863,495
1,152,000,000 115,200 94,829
230,400,000 23,040 18,233
1,382,400,000 138,240 113,062
276,480,000 27,648 21,775
1,658,880,000 165,888 134,837
Mt -

31.

(b)

RZZF-WFAA+TER ARAEREERE
RINEE B Fit RERERBRBEMN
BEEENEREERD0.38BTHERESR
% 230,400,000 BT AR T T 775 2 B SLAED
AN BEFRER-F-—NFAA=tRAR
o

RZF-—RAFEANE  KAARHEEERIER]
UEE R Bt BRERERSIRBRAE
HEENGREERMN0345BETHNEREER
% 276,480,000 [T A7 T D 778 2 8 A AL
A BEFSBEER-_T—HAFLA=-+—8%
B o

it
AEERAFEREBEFENRELEDS

BEGEEDREBRETS -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

31. RESERVES (Continued)

Note:

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share
premium of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at
a price in excess of their par value per share and after deduction of
capitalisation issue and issuance costs of placing of shares.

Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus of the Company represented the difference between
the net assets value of the subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of
the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof pursuant to
the reorganisation during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the Group
reorganisation implemented in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares in 2010 and represented the difference between the
nominal value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired
under the reorganisation scheme, over the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefore.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC shall appropriate
10% of its annual statutory net profit (after offsetting any prior year’s
losses) to the statutory reserve fund account in accordance with the PRC
Company Law. When the balance of such reserve fund reaches 50%
of the entity’s share capital, any further appropriation is optional. The
statutory reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior year’'s losses or to
increase capital after proper approval.

31. #EE)

% 40 5 E

BRERSEERTE  ARABRMEERANE A H#
DEFARABBR - EEZZRTBRE BEEK - AQ
ABINERNIRBFEBBRETEERHMOES -

Bty BB R R0 S REEZ BREITRM KRR
BEMMEBITREERNDBEITRARELNEHE -

BARER
ARRBZBABBIEPTIS 2 B A B A E FEERE
HEZ-—ZH5+ A=+ —RALSFEsENETET
R 2 AR RIRAEEZ 28 ©

B pHER
AEBZAHRBEEN " —ZFERAQTRM L
MMATETTEM - FEREEMA BB HTE A R
A EEEHEE RSN A A BRI BT AER IR R A E
ERMZEE -

IR ERE
SNEMERERRRESIEB BRRMELNAE
SNEZEHE - ZEBHIREAVBRERMT4REIINE
FHER GRS

EERE

BEHEARE - ARB RPN ZHEARESE
FREAEAN IR BEFERBRR)10% BEEE
AR, - WERESZBHREZERRAZ50% -
RIRDRERTEEE - DK - REFEEIER -
EERBRRE I REREBEFEHRNIEE -

FESEANEEERA R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE-F-—art-A=+—ALFE

32.

33.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITY

Derivative financial liability
Forward contract REIEXN
As at 31December 2015, the Group had no foreign exchange
forward contracts (2014: RMB1,000,000) in relation to

foreign currency sales.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, fair value
gain of approximately RMB605,000 (2014 fair value loss:
RMB908,000) has been recognised in profit or loss.

TRADE PAYABLES

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice
dates, is as follows:

0 to 90 days 0&90H

91 to 180 days 91&180H
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365H
Over 365 days #Bif 365 H

Trade payables generally have credit terms ranging from 10
days to 60 days (2014: ranging from 10 days to 60 days).

At 31 December 2015, trade payables are denominated
in RMB, HKD and USD of approximately RMB11,598,000,
RMBNil and RMB641,000 (2014: RMB20,509,000,
RMB1,665,000 and RMB Nil) respectively.
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fTESmas

32.

33.

fTEEmas
2015 2014
—ZE-8F —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR AREFIT
— 1,000

R-ZTE—RAF+-_A=+—8 KEEK
EHIIEHEFB( T —MNE: ARK
1,000,000 7T ) B INE R G 47 ©

HE_ZT—AF+_A=+—BLFE QF
Bz AR 605,000 T (ZFE —MEQF
EE51E - AR 908,000)ENIB2AMER -

ENESFEA
BEBEEZAH  BNESRENRERS TN
T

2015 2014
—E-RF —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREET T
10,444 14,712
102 5,751

25 92

1,668 1,619
12,239 22,174

ENEZHENEER RN TI108HE60H
(ZZ2—WF : N TF10HE60H) °

W-E—RAE+-A=1+—0 ENZZZHAE
AR - BT RETFE » DRIHABARE
11,598,000 + ARKEZ L AR 641,000
TT(ZE—F + AR¥20,509,0007C * AR
# 1,665,000 TR ARKEZIT) ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

34. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 34. EtERARHEMESFIE
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Advance from customers ZEEE 2,888 927
Accruals of staff costs FEEtE TRk 3,152 3,654
Accruals of operating expenses FERT & X 1,729 1,867
VAT payable IR (ET 584 942
Payable to fixed assets vendor ENEEEES HRIE 610 646
Other payables H b FE 30 1,765 2,332
10,728 10,368

35. BANK BORROWINGS 35. |RITER
2015 2014
—E-HF —ET—mF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARBETTT

Current FE

Bank loans, secured IRITER - BRI 29,500 30,500
Non-current FERE

Bank loans, secured IRITER - HEMW — 4,400

“E-0FER

RESEANEEERA




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

35. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 35. RITERE)
The maturities of the above bank borrowings are as follows: FRITEREIEERT ¢
2015 2014
—E-AF —T—-mF
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR¥ETT

Carrying amount repayable: JEEZEFIEREE
— within one year — R—FRA 29,500 30,500
— more than one year but within two years — BB —FERRFER — 684
— more than two years but within five years  — HBREBRAERN — 1,185
— more than five years — HBBAAF — 2,531
Secured bank loan BEPIRITER 29,500 34,900
Less: Amounts classified under current B DB RABABENRIE
liabilities
Secured bank loan that contain a BRI ERE R BNk

repayment on demand clause or due R—F A2 B A E

within one year RITER (29,500) (30,500)
Amounts classified under non-current liabilities S8 AIEREE EHZRIE — 4,400
At 31 December 2015, the bank loans were secured by RZEBE—RE+-A=+—80 " RITEXHK
charges over the Group’'s buildings and prepaid land EFEEFLRENTHBEERES BHARK
lease payments of approximately RMB6,587,000 and 6,587,000 7T & A R#2,771,0007C ~ — &8
RMB2,771,000 respectively, corporate guarantee provided by YE=ZFRENARBRERR - RHARTE
an independent third party. The weighted average effective RZINMEFHERFEAEBFELI5E -
interest rate on the short-term bank loans is 4.95% per
annum.
At 31 December 2014, the bank loans were secured by RZE—NF+-_A=+—H  FITERHAK
charges over the Group’s buildings, prepaid land lease EHEEFRENTHBEEZTES RIHARK
payments of approximately RMB6,896,000, RMB4,424,000 6,896,000 7T * A R 4,424,000 7T & A R ¥
and RMB2,844,000 respectively and corporate guaranteed by 2,844,000 TR — BB/ E = IR A RE
an independent third party. The weighted average effective RVEETR - SEHARITE M INEE P B IR F R
interest rate on the short-term bank loans is 5.81% per BEFES81E -
annum.
At 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of the RZFE—RAF+=-A=1+—8 A£EBEUAR
Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB and HKD BT EZERZEREDS LG AARE
of approximately RMB29,500,000 and RMB Nil (2014: 29,500,000 TR ARBZL(ZT—MNF : A
RMB29,500,000 and RMB5,400,000). R # 29,500,000 7t &2 A R ¥ 5,400,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE-F-—aFt A=+ ALFE

36.

37.

BANK OVERDRAFTS 36.

At 31 December 2014, the Group’'s bank overdrafts of
approximately and secured by RMB2,908,000 carried interest
at market rate of 5.38% per annum and was secured by the
Group’s pledged bank deposit of approximately RMB Nil and
secured by properties provided by a director of a subsidiary
of the Group who is not a director of the Company. The
bank overdrafts were denominated in HKD.

PROMISSORY NOTE 37.
At 1 January ®—HA—H

Interest expenses FEZH

Interest payable JERTFLE

Exchange alignment ME 5, F8 B
Repayment BN

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8

The promissory note bears interest at 3.0% per annum and is
payable on 27 May 2014, being the date which is 12 months
after the date of the issue of the note. The fair value of
the promissory note at the date of issue was approximately
RMB15,165,000.

RITEX

R-ZB—ME+-A=1+—0  KAEERT
B A AREE 2,908,000 TIE T HFFE5.38
Bt VEAEENEEBRITEINAR
BT RAEEBETHBAR —BES(WIE
RARER)RHEOMEEER - RITHEZ
VETLEME ©

ANRE
2015 2014
—g-EE  -F-mF
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

— 15,456
— 506
— (189)
— 71
— (15,844)

ANEERFFNER30%TE AR _T—N
FRAZTEHAZEERETARE121EA
EH)EE - ENEHERETABENATFEL
B ARE 15,165,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—F—AFT_H=+—HIFE

38. DEFERRED TAXATION 38. ELHIEA
The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities REBRAFE RBEFERANEEZRLEN
recognised and movements thereon during the current and HEEMBELEZFHWT
prior years:
Amortisation tax Unrealised
on of prepaid gain on held
land lease Decelerated tax for trading
payments depreciation investment Total
B L REREREZ
HENREHH HERERE BT WE CE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF AREFT AREFT AREF
At 1 January 2014, RZZ-MF—A—
31 December 2014 and = Stk 3
1 January 2015 +ZA=+-8k
—Z-nf—-A-H 35 1,212 — 1,247

Debit to profit or loss for the — $tAFERZH

year (35) (1,212) (33,979) (35,226)
Exchange alignment RO E — — (1,457) (1,457)
At 31 December 2015 R=Z-1F

+=A=+-H — - (35,436) (35.436)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for AT ARG E MBI R e & EER T8 45
consolidated statement of financial position purposes: BT

2015 2014

—ZE-HF —E—mF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT

Deferred tax assets BEFIEEE — 1,247
Deferred tax liabilities FIERTEE F 35,436 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

38. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Note:

At 31 December 2015, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
RMBNil (2014: RMBNil) available for offset against future taxable profits.
The tax loss of approximately RMBNil will expire after five years from
the year of assessment they relate to. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the estimated unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of the respective subsidiary of the
Group which incurred the tax loss.

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 26 May 2015, the Group entered into sale and purchase
agreement to dispose 100% equity interest in Oriental
Strategic Limited and its subsidiary to a listed company
in Hong Kong (the “Purchaser”) at a consideration of
HK$51,000,000, which were satisfied in full by the issue
of the ordinary shares of the Purchaser. The disposal was
completed on 16 June 2015. Summary of the effects of
disposal is as follows:

38. IEEKRIE(E)

Mt

REFB-AF+-A=+—8B AEEEETRAEEH
ARRERBENORDAREBEROARERL(ZF
—FE ARBERL)  BBEROAREZIHNE
RS FERA DFRERN - ARELRBEROR
SR [ HE R T8 2 RIR SRS AR A0 N Al FROBIE - B Bk
EEARBARBEHREDEEHREE -

39. HEMBATE

RZFE—RAFRAZF+ B AEEFILE
EHE AA—HEELETARTERDH
£ Oriental Strategic Limited M E W E R AIHY
FEBAR A 2= (B A 51,000,000 7T+ bAEE
TEAFNERRZEEE - HEFHEER =T
—HFNATARBRER HEFENTEHRE
U

Consideration received Fr B (B
2015
—E—E1F
RMB’'000
AR¥ T
Consideration shares received 2 UWERAE R (D 40,054
Analysis of asset and liabilities over which KEERHEZEERABIN
control was lost
RMB’'000
AR¥ T
Current assets MBNEE
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEEY 194
Trade receivables FEUE S5/ E 15,492
Non-current assets FEMBEE
Investment properties REYHE 4,795
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEAMEMN IR (3,185)
Bank borrowings RITIE K (4,907)
Bank overdrafts RITEL (4,398)
Tax payable FEHI IR (53)
Derivative financial liability MEEREE (334)
Net assets disposed of EHEEETFE 7,604

“E-AFEFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—F—AFT_H=+—HIFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. HENB LT (#)
Gain recognised on disposal of subsidiaries HENRB QR 2B BA WS

2015
—E—-1F
RMB’000
ARBT
Consideration received B UE(E 40,054
Net assets disposed of EHEEETE (7.604)
Release of goodwill P2 o) (29,252)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve SN E R E 511
Gain recognised on disposal & B BRI S 3,709

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATZEHERASE
2015
—E-E1F
RMB’000
AR®BT
Consideration received by cash BREBIREESNRE —
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of  Jif - D HERES KBS ZEYEH (194)
Add: Bank overdrafts disposed of B HRERITER 4,398
4,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases within fall due as follows:

40. KEHERIE

REBER/EBAA
RBEHR  AEEZ TAIRBEEEHEEET
I EAME fE i R R R B ESAAENT

2015 2014

—E-EEF —E—FE

RMB’000 RMB"000

ARBT AR T

Within one year —FA 539 1,077
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERF(BIEEREMTE) 382 1,096
921 2,173

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for its warehouse, factory and office premises. Leases
are negotiated for a range from 1 to 2 years (2014: 1 to
4 years) and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do
not include contingent rentals. The Group does not have an
option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease
period.

The group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitment for future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable leases within fall due as follows

REMERBEASEREE ITREHAE
WEERNOAE - BEBREANT1E2F(=
TOF —ENF) > MARREEGRRE
o TERIAEE - AREYENERER
NEEHEEEZRER -

AEBESHAA
RNBEHR  AEEZTAIRBEEEHEEET
51/ A FE i B R SR R AR R R B AN T

2015 2014

—B-4fF —ZT—mF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT T ARBTF T

Within one year —FR — 190
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERF(BEEREMTE) — 360
— 550
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE—F—aF1+-_HA=1—HIFE

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENT 41. EREE
The Group has no material capital commitment as 31 AEBER-_ZE—RAF+-A=Z+—BIEEKX
December 2015 (2014: Nil). BARE(ZE—F &) -

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42 FAEE
At 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any RZBE-—RAF+-A=1+—H  KTEEWET
significant contingent liabilities (2014: Nil). AEASABE(ZE—IYE : &) o

43. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 43. EEEKR
At 31 December 2015, certain property, plant and equipment R-ZE—AF+_A=1+—H AEBETY
(Note 18) and prepaid land lease payments (Note 20) of ¥ WEREEMFIS)UREMN T HHEE
the Group were pledged as collateral for secured banking FIE(MFE20) B HKIFIEBAREFEE G K
facilities granted to the Group. HRITRE WA o
At 31 December 2014, certain property, plant and equipment R-Z—NE+-_A=+—8 A&£BZzET
(Note 18), prepaid land lease payments (Note 20) and bank M BB REHTT18) BN LMESE
deposit (Note 28) of the Group were pledged as collateral FRIE (KT EE20) RIRITIF R (MY 5 28) B | 1E
for secured banking facilities granted to the Group. AAEEERBEEMRTHE KR -

44. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 44. ERERIGTE

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to
a monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500
(HK$1,250 prior to 1 June 2014) per employee and vest fully
with employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the
PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required
to contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and wages to the central pension scheme to fund
the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of
all existing and future retired employees of this subsidiary.
The only obligation of this subsidiary with respect to the
central pension scheme is to meet the required contributions
under the scheme.

AEERBEESBHEAESTEEH AES
FiEEARREERAFEATERE([#TE
&) o AEEMRE ST B 2 HATIRR
EBEFHERIEZS%:TE  BREESFAH
HERA1,5008 T(R=_E—NF/NA—H
AT 1,250770) ° BB RaES81F T #t
HE o BRBEEFRA -

REP B 2 A REB AR Z BB R ™
B EE 2R RBRASFEIKE - ZHBEAF
ARREEAHERTEZETEDLATR
RASFTEHR  (ERERIRBEHNZES - 77
MR AGAEZINB AR ARA LAKER
KEB ZRINEHNEME - ZHBER AL RE
REestdzE—BEERBRESELMEHR

=
N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE_E—AFT-HA=1—HIFEF

45. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 45 EXBELIRS

TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material transaction with
related parties during the year.

(a) Compensation of key management
personnel

Compensation for key management personnel,
including amount paid to the Group’s directors and the
senior executive is as follows:

BERAMBRRAEMIORENR S &S
S FRARNEEEHEBEESITENTERR
5 o

(a) TEEBAECZHE

IZERABZME  BRCENAKE
BEEREBATABSENT

2015 2014

—ZE-HF —E—NEF

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥ T ARETT

Salaries and other short-term benefits e kHAME AN 1,861 1,204
Employer contribution to pension scheme iR{k& st EI{E F 3K 14 66
1,875 1,270

46. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

On 26 May 2015, the Group entered into sale and purchase
agreement to dispose 100% equity interest in Oriental
Strategic Limited and its subsidiary to a listed company in
Hong Kong (the “Purchaser”) at a consideration of HK$
51,000,000, which were satisfied in full by the issue of the
ordinary shares of the Purchaser. The disposal was completed

46.

FTEFRERS
REZZE-—RAFHAA-+ARE AEEFZEE
AR —ERES LT ZAR(ERDHE
# Oriental Strategic Limited REMIB AR 2
100% A% # - £ {8 /51,000,000 7T+ J3 &
HHBTEH EBREE - HESER T
—RERNATRATK °

on 16 June 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RR I (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE=F-—TF+=A=1—ALFE
47. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

47. BRESTE

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
effective date of the Scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.
Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion
grant options to the eligible participants, including but not
limited to, any Directors (whether executive or non-executive
and whether independent or not) and any employee (whether
full time or part time) of the Group or any other person,
who has contributed to the Group. The maximum number of
shares in respect to which options may be granted under the
Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company on the date of adopting the Scheme. The limit
may be refreshed at any time provided that the new limit
must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval in general meeting. However, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time. At 31 December 2015, the total number of shares
available for issued under the Scheme was 138,240,000
shares, which represented approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of adoption of
the Scheme. The maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted to any individual in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
on the last date of such 12-month period unless approval
of the shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with the Listing Rules. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.
Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant
of the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant
as may be determined by the Directors. The exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price per share as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets on the date of the
grant of the options; (ii) the average closing price per share
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
grant of the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.
During the year, no share option was granted, exercised,
expired or lapsed and there is no outstanding share option
under the Scheme.

RRABR-_ZE—RFENARBHEMZSE > %
FEIBERBERTFERNER - miEm B
BZE-RAFNAMA - BIEZAE  BET
BEREERALELERE  SFETRER
FMEZ(THRIEBRTHRIEATRELREL) &
AEEZEMEE(CTHREEB K FEE )N E
FEERNBATEHAEEG R 2 E@EM
AT o IRIRZFT IR 2 AR TER - A
FEITZBRMOEE RS TBBAR IR RNZ
TEEBZEBEITRAI0% ° 52 EIRATBER
BH MEIRENSHEARENBREANSHE
BB AQARZBETRAZ10% A
RIERZ AT B AR BME R E a2 B R A
RITEZ 2 HERAEEITER - 7] FEITZR
MEETRBRATREEHITRN Z230% - B
—E-RAE+-A=+—8  BEZEA
H2ITH AR 4 20 A& 138,240,000 A& %17 » 8
ERARBREMZTEZE BB EHITRALY
10% ° FMER+ =@ A HIM A - mEmE5A
TR BREEITER - A PRITZRGE
HABHEBZ T —@EABE&R —RKARQFZ
BEITRMZ 1% » BRIFIZBAIZER LT R A
KEHARRRESEAER R - KBARE1
VS TCERE IR DB R R S A o BRI T R
BRHERERBES  EEREAHTEFHN
EARRAITE  MARBESRE - 17EE
BREEET U TEERUTZRESE
WRERERHABRNERIHMEARESR
Frskz WemfE : (N EEBRER LA BHITA
AEZERRMNEBIAMEABRERAMIRZ T
Wi (i)ROEE - AFERN - BEL
AEREC R - 176 - BIHAm - Bz
ETEITE A R T A REIRAE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
B2 —F—aF+-A=1+—HIFE

48. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 48. XA RIMBEMRRFK 2EHR

OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
As at 31 December 2015 R=-=—RH+=-B=+—H
2015 2014
—ZE-8F —T—mF
RMB’'000 RMB"000
AR® TR ARETTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB A RIMILE 17,872 50,022
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TBRRIE - e REAMERK
ErE] 17,112 217
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note 1) UM B AR RIE (M) 234,041 129,905
Cash and bank balances He RiRTTEH 8,219 1,451
259,372 131,573
Total assets EEHSE 277,244 181,595
EQUITY g
Capital and reserves attributable to the KAREBAEBLRELRREE
owners of the Company
Share capital RE AR 134,837 113,062
Reserves (note 2) & E2) 141,997 68,177
Total equity ERes 276,834 181,239
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables et & B N E A e T IE 410 356
Total liabilities =Ritt ] 410 356
Total equity and liabilities ERLEERE 277,244 181,595
Net current assets TREBEEBEHE 258,962 131,217
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBER 276,834 181,239
Approved by the Board of Director, on 30 March 2016 and RZE—RNF=ZA=tHEESgtrEHT
signed on its behalf by: FIATREZEE
Zhuang Yuejin Wong Ho Yin
HRE EER
Director Director
EE EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE M B |RME(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—T—AF T -HA=1—HIFEF

48. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015 (Continued)
Note:

(1) The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade nature,
unsecured, interest-fee and recoverable on demand.

(2) Movement of the Company’s reserves

48. XNFMBRR K2 ER (#)

R-ZB-HF+ZA=+—-H#E)

(1) BEHNEBRARRERFEELE  SER 28
g g sy -

@ AATEEZR

Foreign
currency
Share  Contributed translation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
R EE BABER HNERERZE RitEB &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREEFT AREEFT AREFT
At 1 January 2014 RZZT—lFE—A—H 24,027 17,219 (4,334) (17,396) 19,516
Loss for the year FEEE — — — (514) (514)
Other comprehensive income for FEEM2 @iz
the year — — 232 — 232
Total comprehensive income for  FE 2 HENHA%E
the year — — 232 (514) (282)
Issue of shares BITR A 51,055 — — — 51,055
Share issue expenses BRAD BRI (2,112) — — — (2,112)
At 31 December 2014 and R-ZE-NFE+=-A=+—H
1 January 2015 E-E-nFE—-A—H 72,970 17,219 (4,102) (17,910) 68,177
Gain for the year FEWE — — — 6,887 6,887
Other comprehensive income for & H 2 E W %
the year — — 14,422 — 14,422
Total comprehensive loss for FELEFGEHRRE
the year — — 14,422 6,887 21,309
Release upon disposal of HEMRBDRIERRE
subsidiaries — — (511) — (511)
Issue of shares upon placing REEREITRG 53,350 — — — 53,350
Share issue expenses B BEITRX (328) — — — (328)
At 31 December 2015 R-Z2-EF+=-A=+—-H 125,992 17,219 9,809 (11,023) 141,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M RRME(H)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE
49.

50.

51.

—E—AFT A=t —HIFE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 December, 2015, the Company entered into the
Engagement Agreement with Opus Capital Management,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to: (i) make an
investment of HK$300,000,000 in the Fund; (ii) appoint
Opus Capital Management as the Investment Manager of the
Fund; and (iii) appoint Opus Capital Management to set up
the Fund.

On 10 December 2015, the Company entered into the First
Supplemental Agreement with Opus Capital Management
to increase the Proposed Committed Investment from
HK$300,000,000 to HK$350,000,000.

On 23 December 2015, the Company entered into the
Second Supplemental Agreement with Opus Capital
Management, with respect to the terms of the Fund. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
3 December 2015, 10 December 2015, 25 January 2016 and
16 February 2016.

RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in order
to conform with the current year’s presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March
2016.

49.

50.

51.

REHEEE

MZZE—AFE+-A=H ARFHEFEAR
BRIV EAHE Bt XARRAE : (
7 & % #F H 300,000,000 5T 2 & 5 (i &
TREEATRAES ZIRELE  R(iNE
TRIEEREERIES -

=

RZE—AF+-A+H  ARQFHAEEAX
BRIV E—HEahE  NEEARRE
300,000,000 %12 2 350,000,000 7T °

R-ZE—RE+-_A=-+=0  KAAFHASE
BREBERES ZKREILE LT IHE
HER2HARREAZE —RAF+ZA=
H —Z—HF+-A+H  —T—RF—H
“HRBEZZE—ANF_ATABZRE -

ERBFEHNIE
ETHBYETEEH S BUNRREE 2 25]—
B o

RETIRKREMBEHRR

BEVBHRER _E-R"F-A=+HE=E
FEHERBETIE -

“B-HFEFR

FEREANEEERAT



SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERBE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the LARAREEIZ THIMFEEERE Y O F3 %
assets and liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set out in EHEERAEHRE :
the note below:

Year ended 31 December
BE+T=-A=+—HLEE
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—F-—F ¥ ZT-=f Z—T-NF ZE-IF
RMB"000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AREBFIT ARETT ARETT AREBTRT AR®T:R

Revenue WA 156,476 166,906 543,377 357,251 195,804
Gross profit EF 42,006 28,406 50,812 50,138 30,372
Profit before tax R 5 A s 22,475 12,295 47,626 29,510 168,006
Profit for the year ViN/NEIE ¥ =N

attributable to owners FERAH

of the Company 18,851 10,798 43,044 25,880 131,977
Basic earnings per share  GRREARZEF

(RMB cents) (AR#5) 9.1 2.0 3.8 2.1 8.8

As at 31 December

BR+=—HA=+—H
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—_FT—— —ZT—= —T2—=F =—ZT—NF ZZEB-EHEF

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTT ARBTIT ARETT AR®T:R

Non-current assets IERBEE 46,097 44,099 105,928 111,316 59,150
Current assets MENE E 109,033 196,757 221,725 296,419 594,039
Current liabilities mEaE 42,556 52,862 87,930 70,125 55,864
Non-current liabilities ERBHEE — — — 4,400 35,436
Net assets FEE 112,574 187,994 239,723 333,120 561,889
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